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Presentation

The company began with the foundation of ASA San Marino s.a. in 1959 
and has continued developing until the present, showing a continuous and 
constant growth on both the national and international markets. This has made 
Gruppo ASA the first independent Italian group in the field of General Line 
metal packaging, and one of the first in Europe, producing metal packaging 
for the food sector (specifically in the oil and powdered milk sectors) and the 
chemical industry (paints, varnishes, solvents).

The Group has grown in time in Italy and abroad with the targeted acquisition 
of competitors and important strategic investments, up to reaching over 100 
million euros of consolidated turnover in recent years.

This growth objective has been possible thanks to the commitment and 
collaboration of the 490 workers of the Group, as well as the managers who are 
family members and who, in three generations, have guaranteed the excellent 
guidance of the company and the continuity of its fundamental values.

The industrial route chosen allows Gruppo ASA to be operational, at present, 
in four different countries (San Marino, Italy, Switzerland and the United 
Kingdom) with 7 plants, supplying over 1.000 clients in over 30 Countries, 
processing and transforming approximately 40.000 tons per year of tinplate, 
into tins.

In particular, the activities carried out in 2019 were focused on the large 
investment of the new 9-color printing line installed at the ASA San Marino 
S.p.A. plant. It is the first printing machine in the world for metal packaging 
capable of printing with such a high number of colors at the same time, which 
will allow the ASA Group to establish itself as the undisputed leader in the 
lithographic printing process.



3

ASA Group Organisation as at December 31, 2019

ASA
San Marino SpA

(Republic of San Marino)

ASA
Switzerland AG

Ermatingen
(Switzerland)

ASA UK & Ireland 
Ltd

Liverpool
(UK)

ASA Italia Srl

Rovato (BS)
Conversano (BA)
Chiusanico (IM)

Chignolo Po (PV)

ASA Servizi Srl

Rovato (BS)

L. Sauter AG

Ermatingen
(Switzerland)

Liverpool (UK)

Ermatingen (CH)

Rovato (BS)

Republic of San Marino

Chignolo Po (PV)

Chiusanico (IM)

Conversano (BA)



4

History of the Group

ASA San Marino was founded in 1959. This was the year that the brothers 
Emilio and Mario Amati – owners of the fish farm Fratelli Amati Srl with 
headquarters in Riccione, specialising in the packaging of clams in small jars 
and tins – decided to set up a new company in the Republic of San Marino, 
for the production of metal packaging for anchovies and sardines. ASA is an 
acronym for Amati Sammarinese.

It is a matter of pride to note that Emilio and Mario are second-generation 
entrepreneurs in this enterprising family. It was their father Lucio Amati 
who, after extensive research and studies on the possibility of canning the 
only cheaply available resource on the Adriatic coast, namely clams, began 
farming them industrially as preserved fish in 1902.

ASA San Marino grew extensively during the 1980’s, when the third 
generation of managers, represented by the brothers Lucio and Emilio Amati, 
extended their production range to include containers for the olive oil, food 
and chemical industries. The high transport costs involved in moving empty 
containers caused ASA to move beyond the borders of the Republic of San 
Marino in order to achieve this extensive growth and set up production closer 
to their clients, the users of tin cans.

What followed was a time of great industrial development involving the 
acquisition of competing companies: starting in 1985 with Redaelli in Rovato 
(BS), followed by Italgraf in Chiusanico (IM), 3M in Conversano (BA) and 
Legnani & Ferrari in San Giuliano Milanese (MI), this latter company stopped 
being operational at the end of 2015 financial year. Furthermore, in the mid 
1990’s in Ravenna, a wall-to-wall company was set up in the production of tins 
for seed oil for Gruppo Ferruzzi, in Sfax in Tunisia. The same container was 
made available to the Libyan market under Gheddafi, and in Bucharest a joint 
venture was set up with another producer for the Rumanian market. Lastly 
in Antwerp, a tin-producing plant was set up for an important oil packager 
in Belgium.

In the early 2000s ASA Group faced a severe crisis due to the move from 
metal to plastics, in large production volumes for packaging food oils and 
buckets for varnishes and paints. This led to the closure of various production 
plants in Ravenna, Sfax, Bucharest and Antwerp. Nonetheless the group 
reacted exceptionally well to this considerable loss of production volume, 
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and began to work in the aerosol can and powdered milk sectors, taking over 
control of the Swiss company Sauter in 2010, followed recently by Central 
Tin Containers Ltd in Liverpool in November 2015, and Crown in Chignolo Po 
(PV) in January 2016.

With these acquisitions, start-ups and closures, ASA San Marino SpA has 
grown to become the ASA Group we see at present, and as summarised in 
the following comparison:

ASA Group today sells to 30 countries supplying over 1.000 clients. It has 
increased the range of its aerosol products and products for the powdered 
milk industry and is always at the forefront as regards technology, research, 
environmental policies and customer service. 

In the General Line of the industry in which it operates, ASA Group is clearly 
in first place as regards size and turnover in the Italian market. It exports 55% 
of its turnover and is continuously increasing. ASA top management is also 
on the Boards of Directors of the most important associations of the sector, 
both in Italy (Anfima), Europe (Empac) and abroad (IPA).

ASA is facing a future of continuous growth, having successfully encompassed 
a fourth generation of family-member-managers, the brothers Francesco and 
Michele Amati, heirs and holders of the founding values of the family and 
proprietors of the company.

1978

Tons of transformed metal sheets 400 40,000

Employees 35 492

Plants, sqm under cover 2,500 88,000

2019
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Vision and Mission

The ASA Group development plan has the long-term strategic objective of 
ensuring its clients a high level of service offering innovative and high-quality 
solutions, always suitable for fulfilling the needs of its clients. 

This vision is rendered concrete and made possible by the company’s daily 
efforts to search for technologically avant-garde solutions that can offer 
solutions in advance to a market that is now saturated, guaranteeing controls 
and quality for each individual product offered and at the same time offering 
maximum effectiveness. Specifically, the adoption of the Hub & Spoke 
model has permitted the company to review and perfect the configuration 
of the Group, based principally on the re-organisation of production flows, 
strengthening the holding company ASA San Marino and making it more agile 
than other companies of the group, while not affecting in any way the reliability 
of the work done. ASA Group, has in fact based the specialisation process 
of its companies on knowhow and the experience of the same companies, 
increasing the value of individual skills and the professionalism of the staff.
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Organisation and Corporate Bodies of the 
Group as at December 31, 2019

The Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors of ASA San 
Marino SpA, appointed at the Shareholders' Meeting held on June 28, 2018, 
will remain in office until the end of the financial year ending on 31 December 
2020. In 2019 the new director Francesco Amati was appointed to replace 
Carlo Bisacchi.

ASA San Marino SpA

Board of Directors
Emilio Amati | Chairman

Francesco Amati | Director
Alberto Baraldi | Director

Alessandro Berti | Director
Daniele Forti | Director

Board of Statutory Auditors

Marco Cevoli | Chairman
Chiara Mancini | Auditor

Ruggiero Stacchini | Auditor

ASA Switzerland AG
Ermatingen (Switzerland)

Board of Directors
Emilio Amati

Francesco Amati
Michele Amati
Christian Knoll
Michael Steck

L. Sauter AG
Ermatingen (Switzerland)

ASA ITALIA Srl
Rovato (BS)

Conversano (BA)
Chiusanico (IM)

Chignolo Po (PV)

Sole Director
Roberto Amati

ASA Servizi Srl
Rovato (BS)

Sole Director
Roberto Amati

ASA UK & Ireland Ltd
Liverpool (UK)

Board of Directors
Emilio Amati

Francesco Amati
Michele Amati
Carl Williams
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Management report

Introduction

In order to undertake this analysis, ASA Group used the consolidated balance 
sheets drawn up in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards relating to the period 2018-2019. 

Starting from this information, the accounting data were re-classified in 
order to draw up the graduated Income Statement at gross margin or gross 
commercial margin and the Balance Sheet separating from source and 
commitments into nature or duration. 

In particular the Income Statement in the part up to “EBITDA” represents 
exclusively the characteristic activity of the Group, reclassifying the non-
operating or extraordinary items below this indicator, unlike what is instead 
required by the regulation in force for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
as IFRS; in particular, it should be noted that starting from the 2019 financial 
year, the accounting standard IFRS 16 - “Leases” was applied.

The logical process of this analysis includes the processing of historical financial 
statements to then proceed with the evaluation of the financial stability, and 
concluding with the examination of the suitability of the financial and capital 
structure adopted.

Concerning the financial position analysis, a reclassification scheme was 
adopted which adopts the functional criterion, which compares the own 
capital and the financial indebtedness with the net investments of the 
company, highlighting the fixed assets separately, the net working capital, the 
net invested capital, the shareholders' equity and the net financial position of 
the Group.

Lastly, it is important to note that the consolidated balance sheets for years 
2018 and 2019 do not show any changes in the consolidation area.
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Significant data

31/12/2019
in K/€

Total Revenues in K/€ 99,137 103,509

 Gross Margin 39,869 44,464

 % on total revenues 40.2% 43.0%

EBITDA 7,027 9,879

 % on total revenues 7.1% 9.5%

EBIT 2,470 4,979

 % on total revenues  2.5% 4.8%

Profit before taxes 764 3,562

 % on total revenues  0.8% 3.4%

Net profit  466 2,934

 % on total revenues 0.5% 2.8%

Cost of labor 19,040 19,473

Average number of employees  492 504

Revenues per employee 201 205

Duration of trade receivables in days 81 81

Duration of trade liabilities 87 74

Stock duration in days 83 96

Net tangible assets 10,846 6,159

Net invested capital 84,338 81,337

Net financial position 51,705 48,442

Net working capital 13,797 20,804

Equity 32,633 32,895

EBIT / Invested capital (R.O.I.) 2.9% 6.1%

EBIT / Equity (R.O.E.) 7.6% 15.1%

EBIT / Total revenues (R.O.S.)  2.5% 4.8%

N.F.P. / EBITDA 7.4 4.9

EBITDA / Financial income and charges 4.5 7.2

N.F.P. / Equity 1.6 1.5

31/12/2018
in K/€
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The 2019 financial year shows a reduction in revenues (-4.2%) and 
consequently slightly lower results.

In particular, the Gross Margin shows a reduction in the incidence on 
revenues, going from 43.0% in 2018 to 40.2% in 2018 and 4.6 million euros 
in absolute value. This reduction is due to the increases in the prices of raw 
materials, in particular the tinplate, which for the third consecutive year has 
suffered it has increased. Despite the efforts of the sales force, it was not 
possible to overturn these increases in sales prices to customers, except to 
a residual extent.

This reduction in margins, although mitigated by a policy of attention to fixed 
and structural costs, affects the other indicators of the income statement.

EBITDA goes from 9.5% in 2018 to 7.1% in 2019, with a reduction in absolute 
value of 1.7 million euros. It should be noted that as a result of the application 
of the new IFRS 16 accounting standard, starting from 2019 there was a 
positive effect on the item EBITDA for approximately 0.6 million euros.

EBIT goes from 4.8% in 2018 to 2.5%, and is affected by the reductions 
indicated above, therefore it undergoes a change both in terms of incidence 
on revenues and in absolute value (-2.5 million euros); however, it should 
be noted that as a result of the introduction of the new IFRS 16 standard, 
amortization has increased overall by approximately 0.6 million of euros, 
even if compared to the previous year there were no significant changes in 
the item, due to the write-down, which occurred in 2018, of the goodwill 
item for € 0.6 million. 

Analyzing the pre-tax result, it should be noted that net financial charges 
including exchange rate differences are higher than in 2018; against this, 
a worsening of the result of approximately 2.8 million euros is noted. As a 
result of the lower results achieved, the income taxes are also lower, so the 
net result, equal to 466 thousand euros, is significantly reduced compared 
to the previous year.

The balance sheet / financial data show the following changes:

Fixed assets increased by approximately 10 million euros; this change is 
mainly attributable for approximately 3.2 million euros to the effect of the 
accounting of the rights of use in application of the new IFRS 16 standard 
and for the remaining approximately 6.8 million euros to investments, net of 
disposals and depreciation.
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The net working capital decreased by about 7 million euros: this reduction 
mainly derives from the decrease in inventory, a consequence of a more 
careful policy aimed at minimizing stocks and the increase in trade payables. 
In this regard, it should be emphasized that medium-long term payment 
conditions have been agreed with the supplier of the machinery of the most 
significant amount, in consideration of the extraordinary nature and value of 
the purchased asset.

The indicators expressed in the “Significant data” table show slightly 
worsening values compared to the previous year mainly following the 
reduction in margins, but not such as to worry about the health status of 
the Group. The Net Financial Position shows an increase deriving exclusively 
from the application of the new IFRS 16 standard, as a result of which debts 
for rights of use were recorded for a value of approximately 3.2 million euros 
at 31 December 2019, net of which the NFP would be substantially unchanged 
compared to the previous year. In this regard, it should be remembered that 
at 31 December 2019 the massive investment plan undertaken in 2018 (for 
approximately 6.2 million euros) and continued in 2019 (for approximately 
10.8 million euros) was completed. Consequently, the ratio between NFP to 
equity also worsened modestly, going from 1.5 in 2018 to 1.6 in 2019, as well 
as the NFP / EBITDA ratio.
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Turnover 99,137 100% 103,509 100% -4,372 -4.2% 0,0%

Row materials -45,634 -46,0% -44,561 -43,1% -1,073 2.4%  -2.9%

Transport costs -7,114 -7.2% -7,202 -7.0% 88 -1.2% -0.2%

Lithographic costs -3,116 -3.1% -3,251 -3.1% 135 -4,2% 0.0%

Packaging costs -2,334 -2.4% -2,389 -2.3% 55 -2,3% -0.1%

External processing -1,070 -1.1% -1,642 -1.6% 572 -34.8% 0.5%

Cost of sales -59,268 -59.8% -59,045 -57.0% -223 0.4% -2.8%

GROSS MARGIN 39,869 40.2% 44,464 43.0% -4,595 -10.3% -2.8%

Factory cost of labor -17,844 -18.0% -18,623 -18.0% 779 -4.2% 0.0%

Other operating costs -5,960 -6.0% -6,094 -5.9% 134 -2.2% -0.1%

Selling costs -2,710 -2.7% -2,802 -2.7% 92 -3.3% 0.0%

Structural costs -6,328 -6.4% -7,066 -6.8% 738 -10.4% 0.4%

Other costs -32,842 -33.1% -34,585 -33.4% 1,744 -5.0% 0.3%

EBITDA 7,027 7.1% 9,879 9.5% -2,852 -28.9% -2.4%

Depreciations -4,786 -4.8% -4,710 -4.6% -76 1.6% -0.2%

Leases expences  -34 0.0% -45 0.0% 11 -23.9% 0.0%

Extraordinay incomes/exp. 263 0.3% -145 -0.1% 408 -281.1% 0.4%

Depreciations & extr. Items -4,557 -4.6% -4,900 -4.7% 343 -7.0% 0.1%

EBIT 2,47 2.5% 4,979 4.8% -5,509 -50.4% -2.3%

Financial incomes/charges -1,561 -1.6% -1,373 -1.3% -188 13.7% 0.3%

Exchange differences  -141 -0.1% -44 0.0% -97 219.5% -0.1%

Non operating incomes/exp. -4 0.0% 0 0.0% -4 0.0% 0.0%

Net finacial charges -1,706 -1,7% -1,417 -1,4% -289 20.6% -0.3%

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 764 0,8% 3,562 3,4% .2,798 -78.6% -2.6%

Income taxes -297 -0,3% -628 -0,6% 331 -52.62% -0.3%

NET PROFIT 466 0,5% 2,934 2,8% -2,468 -84.1% -2.3%

Reclassified Income statement

Dec 2019
K/€

Dec 2018
K/€

% on
Revenues

% on
Revenues

Var. Var.
Incidence

Var.
%
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Revenues

The revenues analyzed below are recorded gross of the premiums on turnover 
accrued in the period, unlike what is indicated in the consolidated income 
statement, where these premiums are deducted from revenues.

The trend in net revenues in 2019 shows a decrease of 2.6 million euros 
(-2.6%); this negative change is largely due to commercial problems of a Swiss 
customer who in the second half of 2019 saw his order book greatly reduced 
and consequently purchased fewer products from the Group; the situation 
returned to normal in the early months of 2020. In the other markets served by 
the Group, a slight decline in the domestic market and in the English and French 
markets continues, while some positive signs come from the Netherlands, the 
United States and Estonia. The increase in the Estonian market, in particular, 
refers to a new customer of the Infant Formula, which proves to be a rapidly 
growing sector and which will be able to guarantee interesting developments 
in the years to come, a figure confirmed by the results achieved in the first 
months of 2020.

The breakdown by country of the outlet markets is summarized below:

Revenues 103,441 101,806 102,687 100.062 

Italy 50,026 48.4% 48,089 47.2% 47,845 46.6% 47,155 47.1%

Switzerland 19,104 18.5% 17,769 17.5% 18,816 18.3% 17,284 17.3%

France 11,406 11.0% 11.338 11.1% 12,793 12.5% 11,981 12.0%

United Kingdom 14,202 13.7% 15.162 14.9% 12,831 12.5% 11,913 11.9%

Nederland 1,718 1.7% 1.881 1.8% 2,986 2.9% 3,657 3.7%

U.S.A. 933 0.9% 706 0.7% 951 0.9% 1,37 1,4%

Croatia 952 0.9% 1.301 1.3%  1,222 1.2% 1,162 1.2%

Spain 317 0.3% 1.371 1.3% 1,145 1.1% 896  0.9%

Estonia 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 150 0.1% 756 0.8%

Morocco 840 0.8% 690 0.7% 405 0.4% 655 0.7%

Other countries 3,668 3.5% 3,234 3.2% 3,342 3.3% 3,122 3.1%

2016

K/€ K/€ K/€ K/€Incidence
on Revenues

Incidence
on Revenues

Incidence
on Revenues

Incidence
on Revenues

20182017 2019
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Cost of sales

The cost of sales is substantially unchanged in absolute value, therefore, given 
the reduction in revenues, it shows a higher percentage incidence, going from 
57% in 2018 to 59.8% in 2019. This increase is attributable to price increases 
of raw materials, for the third consecutive year, which it was not possible to 
overturn on sales prices to end customers.

The other components of the variable cost of production are in sum unchanged 
as a percentage, so the 3 points of higher cost of sales are exclusively attributable 
to the tinplate and are reflected for the same value on the contribution margin

Other costs of production

The other production costs in total show a reduction of approximately 1.7 
million euros, deriving from lower labor costs, both for employees and 
temporary workers, for 0.55 million euros and the application of the new IFRS 
principle 16 for 0.6 million euros.

Depreciation, write-downs and
non-operating items

Depreciation is unchanged compared to the previous year, due to a double 
effect: the application of the new accounting standard IFRS 16 which resulted 
in an increase of 639 thousand euros against amortization of rights of use, 
counterbalanced by the reduction, compared to 2018, of 600 thousand euros, 
due to the partial write-down of the goodwill value of ASA Uk & Ireland Ltd, 
which took place in 2018.
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Net financial charges and exchange 
differences

Net financial charges increased by approximately 0.3 million euros, deriving 
for approximately 0.1 million from higher exchange rate losses and for 
approximately 0.2 million from higher financial charges on debt, partly due 
to the slight increase in cost of the debt and partly to the non-recourse 
assignments of receivables which in 2019 were sold continuously during the 
year, while in 2018 only at the end of the year.

Taxes

The tax burden of income taxes increased from 628 thousand euros to 297 
thousand euros, with an incidence of 0.6% and 0.3% on revenues, respectively. 
The consolidated financial statements include the results of various companies 
in different countries, with differentiated taxation and related charges. During 
the year, the tax burden is attributable for 0.2 million euros to ASA Italia Srl 
and the remaining 0.1 million euros to ASA Switzerland AG, which benefited 
from tax losses from previous years, fully used in 2019.
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Balance sheet

A) Fixed Assets

a1) Net tangible assets 65,718 59,097 6,621

a2) Net intangible assets 2,708 2,658 51

a3) Rights of use 3,232 0 3,232

a4) Investiments and financial assets 277 266 11

  71,936 62,020 9,915

B) Net working capital

b1) Stocks 22,727 26,840 -4,113

b2) Trade receivables 22,412 22,859 -448

b3) Trade payables -23,868 -20,786 -3,082

b4) Down payments -367 -480 112

b5) Other assets/(liabilities)  -7,106 -7,629 524

  13,797 20,804 -7,007

C) Invested Capital less operating liabilities (A+B) 85,733 82,825  2,908

D) Benefits after termination of the employment relationship 1,395 1,488 -93

E) NET INVESTED CAPITAL (C+D) 84,338 81,337 3,001

F) Group Equity 32,626 32,890 -264

G) Third parts Equity 7 6 1

H) Net financial debt 51,705 48,441 3,264

I) TOTAL FINANCE SOURCES (F+G+H) 84,338 81,337 3,001

VariationsDecember 2018December 2019
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Balance sheet / financial analysis

The changes in the balance sheet of the two years are summarized in the 
following comments:

Fixed assets 
Net technical fixed assets undergo a net increase of Euro 6.6 million, as the 
sum of investments of Euro 11.4 million, net disinvestments of Euro 0.8 million 
and depreciation of Euro 4.0 million.

In particular, the most significant investment in the year was that relating to 
the new 9-color “Metalstar 3” printing machine and related building, which 
had already begun in 2018 and almost completed at the end of 2019; this asset 
went into production in January 2020, the year from which the depreciation of 
the machinery will start. This machine represents the evolution of the previous 
two already installed in the last 20 years in ASA, to date fully depreciated, 
and from 2020 it allows the Group to be completely independent in terms 
of printing production capacity, both for current needs and for any new 
opportunities should occur in the future.

“Rights of use” have been recorded in intangible assets as required by IFRS 
16, applied starting from this year. The effect of this item is approximately 3.2 
million euros at 31 December 2019, net of approximately 0.6 million euros of 
depreciation for the period.

Net working capital 
Net working capital decreased by approximately 7 million euros: the reduction 
derives from the decrease in inventory for 4 million euros, the consequence 
of a more careful policy aimed at minimizing stocks, and an increase in trade 
payables for remaining Euro 3 million.

In this regard, it should be emphasized that medium-long term payment 
conditions have been agreed with a supplier of machinery, in consideration of 
the extraordinary nature and value of the purchased asset.

Trade receivables remain unchanged, both due to the substantial stability of 
revenues and payment conditions, and due to the fact that the non-recourse 
assignment of trade payables transactions were completed in December of 
the two financial years 2019 and 2018, for similar values.
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Group Equity 
Group equity has a negative change of 0.2 million euros, as the algebraic sum 
of the dividends approved in favor of the shareholders of the Parent Company 
in 2019 on the 2018 result (0.7 million euros) and the result for the period.

In consideration of the fact that the net financial position is substantially 
unchanged compared to 2018, the ratio between the two items worsens 
slightly, going from 1.5 in 2018 to 1.6 in 2019.

The changes in the NFP are summarized in the following Cash flow statement:

  Net financial position at 31.12.2018 48,441

  Profit / (loss) of the period -466

 (+)  Depreciations  -4,786

 (+)  Redudancy pay provision -20

 (+)  Risks fund provision -

  Net Cash flow of current management -5,272

 (+/-) Stocks change -4,113 

 (+/-) Change in trade receivables  -448

 (+/-) Change in trade payables -2,970

 (+/-) Change in other assets / (liabilities) 553

 (+/-) Change IFRS 16 3,855

  

  Change in invested capital -3,123

 (+/-) Increase/decrease in technical fixed assets 4,452

 (+/-) Down payment 9 colors + property 6,394

 (+/-) Increase/decrease redudancy pay 113

 (+/-) Dividends 700

  Net financial position at 31.12.2019 51,705

 

  Change in net financial position 3,264

Cash flow statement
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Conclusions

At the conclusion of the analysis carried out, it can be summarized that the 
increases in the prices of raw materials, for the third consecutive year, have led 
to a reduction in the contribution margin due to the difficulty of passing on 
the increases suffered to customers, also in consideration of the competition 
on the market, in an economic situation that is not expanding.

This reduction in the first margin both in absolute value and as an incidence 
on revenues was only partially mitigated by the reduction in fixed costs, which 
remains the goal for the coming years, together with the commercial effort 
aimed at recovering the volumes lost in 2019.

Despite the reduction in results with a consequent reduction in operating cash 
flow and the completion of projects that required heavy investments also in 
2019, the Net Financial Position did not grow, net of the negative effect given 
by the adoption of the new accounting standard IFRS 16 , as a consequence of 
the attention paid to the management of net working capital, with particular 
attention to the amount of inventories.

The commitment to reduce overhead costs, commercial development and 
optimization of working capital will continue in the next year and - together 
with the entry into operation of the investments completed in December 2019 
- allow the Group to look forward to the difficult challenges of the future .

With regard to the foreseeable evolution of operations, also due to the CoVID 
19 pandemic which developed from the end of February 2020, please refer to 
the information at the end of the Explanatory Notes

Falciano (Republic of San Marino), 24 July 2020

For the Board of Directors

Eng. Emilio Amati | Chairman
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Statement of Consolidated Financial Position

31.12.2019 31.12.2018 (€ thousand) Notes

 ASSETS

 Non-current assets

 Property, plant and equipment 5.1 65,718 59,097

 Intangible assets 5.2 2,708 2,658

 Rights of use 5.3 3,232 -

 Deferred tax assets 5.4 970 956

 Investment in associates 5.5 28 31

 Other non-current assets 5.6 246 233

 TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   72,903 62,974

 Current assets

 Inventories 5.7 22,727 26,840

 Trade receivables  5.8 22,412 22,859

 Other current assets 5.9 2,554 2,884

 Cash and cash equivalents  5.10 3,666 832

 TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   51,359 53,415

 TOTAL ASSETS   124,262 116,389

 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

 Equity

 Issued capital  1,600 1,600

 Other reserves  24,940 23,291

 Retained earnings  5,596 5,065

 Profit for the period attributable to the Group  466 2,932

 EQUITY ATTRIBUTED TO THE GROUP 5.11 32,603 32,888

 Equity attributed to third parties  7  7

 TOTAL EQUITY   32,610 32,895

 Non-current liabilities

 Non-current financial payables 5.12 19,475 17,640

 Deferred tax liabilities 5.13 4,277 4,247

 Staff severance provision 5.14 1,426 1,488

 Other non-current liabilities 5.15 1,950 -

 TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   27,128 23,375

 Current liabilities

 Trade payables 5.16 21,918 20,786

 Current financial payables 5.17 35,896 31,633

 Current provisions  5.18 170 108

 Other current liabilities 5.19 6,540 7,592

 TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   64,524 60,118

 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   124,262 116,389
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 OPERATING INCOME

 Sales  6.1 101,523 104,257

 Other operating income 6.2 1,094 3,639

 Total operating income   102,617 107,896

 OPERATING EXPENSES 

 Cost of goods sold and materials consumed 6.3 53,834 53,339

 External supplies and services 6.4 21,726 23,301

 Personnel costs 6.5 18,817 19,473

 Other operating expenses 6.6 1,141 2,070

 Amortization and depreciation 6.7 4,831 4,875

 Provisions and impairment losses 6.8 59 62

 OPERATING PROFIT   2,209 4,775

 Financial Income 6.9 377 46

 Financial expenses 6.10 1,769 1,252

 Results from financial activities  1,392 1,206

 Income (costs) from associated companies  (3) (5)

 PROFIT BEFORE TAXES   814 3,564

 Income taxes 6.11 347 630

 TOTAL NET PROFIT   466 2,934

Consolidated Income Statement

Comprehensive Consolidated Income Statement

 Profit / (loss) for the year (A)   466 2.934

 Actuarial gains/ (losses) concerning defined benefit plans,
 net of taxation effect (IAS 19) 5.13 (22) (24)

 Items not to be reclassified to profit
 or loss in subsequent periods (B1)

 Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 5.10 (31) (5)

 Items to be reclassified to profit 
 or loss in subsequent periods (B2

 Total other profits/losses, net of taxes (B)=(B1)+(B2)  (53) (29)

 Comprehensive income (A)+(B  413 2,905

 Of which of Group   413 2,905

 Of which of third parties   - 1

31.12.2019

31.12.2019

31.12.2018

31.12.2018

 (€ thousand) Notes

 (€ thousand) Notes
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 Operating activities

 Profit /(loss) for the year  466 2,934

 Adjustment:

 Amortization / Depreciation  4,831 4,710

 Net provisions  59 227

 (Financial income)  (377) (46)

 Net financial expenses  1,769 1,252

 Income / (expenses) relating to related parties  2 -

 Income tax payment/(receipt)  347 630

 Net cash flow from operating activities before changing in working capital  7,099 9,707

 (Increase) decrease in inventories   4,113 (710)

 (Increase) decrease in trade receivables  447 4,217

 (Increase) decrease in trade payables  3,082 (3,745)

 (Increase) decrease in other assets and liabilities  173 44

 Net change in provisions  - (746)

 Income tax paid  (476) (382)

 Cash-flow from operating activities (A)  14,438 8,385

 Investing activities

 Investment in property, plant and equipment  (11,385) (6,186)

 Net disposal of property, plant and equipment  58 107

 Investment in intangible assets  (208) (189)

 Net disposal of intangible assets  - -

 Cash-flow from investment activities (B)  (11,535) (6,268)

 Financing activities

 Net change in current and non-current financial payables and receivables 6,098 103

 Net change in financial liabilities due to IFRS 16  (3,871) -

 Distribution of dividends  (527) (714)

 Interests and similar costs  (1,769) (1,034)

 Cash-flow from financing activities (C)  (69) (1,645)

 Increase / (decrease) in cash-flow (D)=(A)+(B)+(C)  2,834 472

 Opening cash and cash equivalents  832 360

 Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from 31.01 to 31.12 2,834 472

 Closing cash and cash equivalents  3,666 832

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the purpose of a better understanding of the balance of cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2019, we inform you 

that this balance includes a double credit, of 2,565 thousand euros, erroneously made to the bank account of ASA Italia 

S.r.l. at the end of 2019 by a factoring company, which was returned to the payer in the first days of the 2020 financial year, 

as indicated in paragraph 5.10 of the Explanatory Notes. The same amount credited was recorded under the item “Other 

financial payables”, thus having no effect on the net financial debt at 31 December 2019.

31.12.2019 31.12.2018 (€ thousand)
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(€ thousand)
Issued capital Share 

premium 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Consolidated 
net profit 

Consolidated 
net equity

 Balance as at 1 January 2018 1,600 0 15,138 10,054 3,917 30,709

 Profit of previous exercise    3,917 (3,917) 0

 Overall profit of exercise     2,934 2,934

 Translation reserve   5   5

 IAS 19 reserve variation   24   24

 Dividends payment   (780)   (780)

 Other variations   (4)   (4)

 Balance as at 31 December 2018 1,600 0 14,383 13,971 2,934 32,888

 Profit of previous exercise    2,934 (2,934) 0

 Overall profit of exercise     466 466

 Translation reserve   (31)   (31)

 IAS 19 reserve variation   (22)   (22)

 Dividends payment   (700)   (700)

 Other variations   2   2

 Balance as at 31 December 2019 1,600 0 13,632 16,905 465 32,603

Statement of Variations in Consolidated Equity
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

ASA San Marino S.p.A. (“ASA” or “the Company”) head office is in the Republic 
of San Marino. The company’s registered office is 18/20, Strada dei Censiti, 
Falciano (RSM).

The Company and its subsidiaries (“Gruppo ASA” or “the Group”) included in 
consolidated financial statement, and all of which integrally consolidated, as 
at 31st December 2019, are as follows:

2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the more significant accounting policies used in the 
consolidated financial statements.

2.1 PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This document contains the consolidated financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, including the balance sheet, 
the income statement and comprehensive income statement, the cash flow 
statement, the statement of variations in shareholders’ equity and related 
explanatory notes (hereinafter the “Consolidated Financial Statements”).

ASA San Marino SpA, pursuant to the Law of 23 February 2006, no. 47 of the 
Republic of San Marino, it is not obliged to draw up the Consolidated Financial 
Statements at 31 December 2019, nor to submit this consolidated financial 
statement to an audit. However, for the specific purpose of representing the 
Company's shareholders and third parties the performance of the Group, 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ASA San Marino SpA Parent company Falciano (Republic of San Marino)

ASA Italia Srl 100% Rovato (Brescia, Italy) 

ASA Servizi Srl 100% Rovato (Brescia, Italy)

ASA Switzerland AG 99.80% Ermatingen (Switzerland)

Louis Sauter AG 99.80% Ermatingen (Switzerland)

ASA UK & Ireland Ltd 100% Liverpool (UK)

Head Office% of capital heldCompany
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during the 2019 financial year, the Company’s Directors, in continuity with the 
previous years, voluntarily prepared the Consolidated Financial Statements 
in accordance with IFRS, meaning for this all the “International Financial 
Reporting Standards”, all the “International Accounting Standards” (IAS), 
all the interpretations issued by the “International Reporting Interpretations 
Committee” (IFRIC), previously named “Standard Interpretations Committee” 
(SIC), which, at the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, 
have been subject to approval by the European Union according to the 
procedure set out in the Regulation (CE) n. 1606/2002 by European Parliament 
and Council dated 19 July 2002.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the basis of 
going concern assumption, as the Company's Directors verified the absence 
of financial, management or other indicators that could indicate critical issues 
regarding the Group's ability to fulfil its obligations in the foreseeable future, 
and in particular in the 12 months following 31 December 2019. 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in Euro, which represents 
the currency of the primary economic environment of the Group. For easier 
reading, all figures in this Consolidated Financial Statements are in thousands 
of euros, unless otherwise specified.

The following are the presentation formats and the relevant classification criteria 
adopted by the Group among the options set out by IAS 1 – “Presentation of 
Financial Statements”: 
• the balance sheet was drawn up by classifying assets and liabilities based 
on the “current/non-current” distinction; 
• the consolidated income statement is separate from the statement of 
comprehensive income, classifying operating costs by nature;
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes, besides 
the result for the period, other changes in the shareholders' equity items related 
to economic items that, pursuant to international accounting standards, are 
recorded among the components of the shareholders' equity;
• the cash flow statement displays the cash flows from operating activities 
based on the “indirect method”.

The consolidated financial statements were drawn up based on the method of 
the historical cost, with the exception of the assessment of financial assets and 
liabilities for which the fair value shall be used.
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2.2 CONSOLIDATION AREA AND CRITERIA

The following table shows the list of companies included in the consolidation 
area and the consolidation method used:

 Companies consolidated with
 the global integration method

  ASA San Marino SpA Republic of
  San Marino Parent company Parent company Euro 1,599,600

 ASA Italia Srl Rovato (IT) 100% 100% Euro 500,000

 ASA Servizi Srl Rovato (IT) 100% 100% Euro 80,000

 ASA Switzerland AG Ermatingen (CH) 99.8% 99.8% CHF 2,600,000

 Blechverpackungen Louis Sauter AG Ermatingen (CH) 99.8% 99.8% CHF 500,000

 ASA UK & Ireland Ltd Liverpool (UK) 100% 100% GBP 7,000

 Associated companies consolidated
 with the equity method

 Marsilio Srl Albenga (ITV) 49% 49% Euro 15,000

2019 
controlling 
percentage

2018 
controlling 
percentage

Currency Issued 
capital 
2019

Head officeCompany

Financial year ended 31 December
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Significant Events in the Financial Year

During the 2019 financial year, no significant events occurred.
For information on the significant investments made, we inform you that during 
the year an investment was made, for a total value of approximately 7.5 million 
euros, in the new Metalstar 3 “9 color” lithographic printer, installed at the factory, 
located in Falciano (RSM), of the parent company, which started production in 
January 2020 and from which benefits are expected in terms of production 
efficiency and additional capacity, such as to be able to gradually replace other 
older machinery within the Group.

2.3 CONSOLIDATION CRITERIA

The following are the criteria adopted by the Group to define the consolidation 
area and the consolidation principles.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are companies in which the Group has, at the same time:

• decision-making power, i.e. the power to direct the subsidiary's relevant 
activities, namely activities that have a significant impact on the subsidiary's 
results;

• the right on (positive or negative) variable results from its shareholding in 
the company;

• the capacity to use its decision-making power to determine the amount of 
results deriving from its shareholding in the company.

Control may be exercised based on the direct or indirect ownership of the majority 
of voting shares as well as on contractual or legal agreements, notwithstanding 
the type of ownership. The existence of potential voting rights, to be exercised 
at the date of the financial statements, is taken into account for the purpose of 
determining the control.

The existence of control is checked each time facts or circumstances indicate a 
change in one or more of the elements that qualify the control.
Subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis starting from the date of the 
control actual acquisition and cease to be consolidated from the date control is 
transferred to third parties. The criteria adopted for line-by-line consolidation 
are the following:
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• the carrying amount of shareholdings in the companies included in the 
consolidation area is deleted against the relevant shareholders' equity upon 
acquisition of the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities;

• any acquisition cost in excess of the market value of Group’s pertaining share 
of net assets is recognised as goodwill only regarding Central Tin Containers 
Ltd., now ASA U.K. & Ireland Ltd., takeover occurred in November 2015.

• In case of business combination under common control, also in the light 
of the provisions of OPI No. 1R, when transfer values exceed historical ones, 
the surplus is reversed by reducing the shareholders' equity of the acquiring/
transferee company, by means of specific debiting of a reserve: indeed, it should 
be mentioned that in November 2014 ASA San Marino SpA purchased from the 
shareholders of ASA San Marino SpA 100% of the shares of Co.pro.met. SpA, 
a San Marino company that owned 100% of ASA Italia Srl and ASA Servizi Srl. 
Later on, in 2015, Co.pro.met SpA was merged by incorporation into ASA San 
Marino SpA that, from the date of legal effectiveness of the merger, directly 
owns the shareholdings in the two aforementioned companies.Therefore, the 
acquisition of the Co.pro.met SpA “sub-group” was dealt with as a business 
combination under common control and, thus, not applying IFRS 3 but rather 
the provisions of OPI No. 1R.

• if the acquisition cost is lower than the fair value of the share pertaining to 
the Group in the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, the difference is directly 
recognized in the income statement;

• profits and losses yet to be realised in relation to third parties deriving from 
transactions between Group companies are eliminated, as well as receivables, 
payables, costs, revenues, margins on stock products and any significant 
transactions between consolidated companies.

• dividends distributed among the Group companies are eliminated, as well 
as hedges of losses and writedowns of investments in consolidated companies:

• the shares of shareholders' result for the year pertaining to third party 
shareholders were not recognized, given their insignificance (0.2% owned of 
ASA Switzerland AG and of Louis Sauter AG); 

• acquisitions of minority shares in entities already controlled or transfers of 
minority shares that do not imply loss of control are considered transactions 
on the shareholders' equity; therefore, any difference between the acquisition/
transfer cost and the relative portion of shareholders’ equity acquired/transferred 
is accounted for as an adjustment to the Group shareholders’ equity. Any forward 
contract obligation to purchase its own equity instruments against cash at bank 
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and in hand implies the recognition of a liability whose fair value is reclassified 
from equity. If the contract expires without any delivery, the liability carrying 
amount is transferred to the shareholders' equity. The contractual obligation 
to acquire its own equity instruments gives rise to a financial liability for the 
present value of the redemption amount, even if the obligation is conditional on 
the counterparty exercising a right to redeem.

Associated Companies

Investments in associated companies are included in the consolidated financial 
statements by use of the equity method, as foreseen by IAS 28 (Investments in 
associates).

An associate is a company in which the Group owns at least 20% of voting 
rights or exercises significant influence, but with no control or joint control, on 
financial and operating policies.

Investments in associates are included in the financial statements from the 
starting date of the significant influence to the time it ceases.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognized 
at cost (including accessory charges) and the carrying amount is increased or 
decreased to recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee 
after the date of acquisition. The investor’s share of profit or loss of the investee 
for the year is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Any dividend 
received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

2.4 CONVERSION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF FOREIGN 
COMPANIES

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared in the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which they operate. If the foreign company, 
though preparing its financial statements in the local currency, mainly operates 
in Euro (functional currency), it prepares financial statements in Euro for the 
purpose of the consolidated ones. The rules for the conversion of financial 
statements in currencies other than Euro are the following:

• assets and liabilities are converted at the exchange rates in force at the 
financial statements reference date;

• costs and revenues are converted at the average exchange rate for the 
reference year;
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• the “translation reserve” in the statement of comprehensive income includes 
both exchange rate differences from the conversion of economic magnitudes at 
an exchange rate other than the final one and those generated by the conversion 
of starting shareholders' equities at an exchange rate other than that at the end 
of the reporting year;

• goodwill, if any, and fair value adjustments related to the acquisition of a 
foreign entity are dealt with as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
converted at the closing exchange rate.

The following tables display the exchange rates used to convert the 
aforementioned financial statements:

The financial statements of ASA Switzerland AG, prepared in CHF pursuant to 
Swiss laws, were drawn up, for the purposes of consolidation, in the functional 
currency euro, which is considered the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the company operates: indeed, most of its costs and 
revenues are in Euro as well as the sale prices with all its main customers.

as at 31 December

Average of the financial year ended 31 December

2019 2018

2019 2018

Valuta

Balance sheet

Income statement

Valuta

 CHF 1.085 1.127

 GBP 0.851 0.895

 CHF 1.112 1.155

 GBP 0.8778 0.8847
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Conversion of transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the company 
carrying out them are converted by using the exchange rate in force at the 
transaction date. Exchange gains and losses generated at the transaction 
closing or from the year-end conversion of assets and liabilities in other 
currencies are recognized in the income statement.

2.5 EVALUATION CRITERIA

The following are the main accounting standards and evaluation criteria used 
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognized in accordance with the cost 
method and carried at purchase or construction cost (apart from the revaluation 
at fair value made on the transition to international accounting standards on 
1 January 2014 and on the subsequent acquisitions of companies, including 
properties also valued at fair value), including directly attributable accessory 
costs that are necessary to make the assets available for use.

Financial charges directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of tangible assets are recognized in the income statement when 
incurred, unless referable to a “qualifying asset”. The Group does not own 
assets for which a certain period of time normally passes to make the asset 
available for use (qualifying asset).

Costs borne for ordinary and/or cyclical maintenance and repair are directly 
charged to the income statement of the financial year in which they are 
incurred. The capitalization of costs relating to the extension, modernization 
or improvement of structural elements owned or used by third parties takes 
place up to the limits they meet the requirements to be separately classified as 
assets or part of an asset, applying the “component approach” criteria.

Tangible assets, with the exception of land, are systematically depreciated 
in each financial year on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life 
according to their residual possibilities of use. When the asset to be depreciated 
is composed of separately identifiable elements whose useful life differs 
significantly from the other parts of the asset, depreciation is recognized 
separately for each part of the asset, applying the “component approach”.
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Depreciation begins when an asset is available for use, i.e. the time when this 
condition actually occurs.

The useful life estimated by the Group for the different categories of property, 
plant and equipment and valid for all the periods concerned is as follows:

Depreciation rates of tangible assets are reviewed and updated, if necessary, 
at least each financial year-end.

In the event that, regardless of depreciation already accounted for, an 
impairment loss has occurred the tangible assets is written down accordingly; 
if in subsequent financial years the conditions for the write-down no longer 
apply, the original value is reinstated net of the amortization that would have 
been recorded in the meantime. Residual values and the useful life of assets 
are reviewed at each balance sheet date and, if necessary, proper adjustments 
are made. 

Land Indefinite

Buildings from 30 to 40 years

Leasehold improvements Term of the lease

Plant and equipment from 8 to 11 years

Industrial and commercial equipment from 5 to 6 years

Other assets from 5 to 11 years

Category Useful life



34

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical 
substance that are controllable and able to generate future benefits. These 
elements are initially recognized at purchase and/or production cost, including 
directly attributable costs that are necessary to make the assets available 
for use. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful life; amortization rates are reviewed on an annual basis and 
changed if the current estimated useful life differs from that estimated before. 

The useful life estimated by the Group for the different categories of intangible 
assets and valid for all the periods concerned is as follows:

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

A tangible or intangible asset becomes impaired if the carrying amount at 
which it is recognized in the financial statements cannot be recovered by 
use of sale. The impairment test pursuant to IAS 36 aims at making sure that 
tangible and intangible assets are not recognized at a value higher than their 
recoverable value, i.e. the higher between the net sale price and the value in 
use.

The value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to 
be derived from the asset or cash-generating unit which the asset belongs 
to. The expected cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate 
reflecting the current estimate of the market rate for risk-free investments, 
adjusted to take into account time and the asset specific risks.

If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable value, the assets or the cash-
generating unit which the assets belong to are depreciated until they reflect 
their recoverable value. These impairments are accounted for in the income 
statement in the financial year in which the difference emerges.

The impairment test is carried out when internal or external conditions make 
believe assets have suffered an impairment loss. The impairment test for 

Goodwill Indefinite

Software, licences and other 3 years

Other multiannual costs from 3 to 5 years

Category Useful life
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goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life is carried 
out at least annually. If the conditions that led to any such impairment are no 
longer met, the original value of assets previously depreciated is reinstated 
on a proportional basis until reaching at most the value that these assets 
would have, net of depreciation calculated on the historical cost, had any 
such impairment losses not occurred. The reversal of impairment losses are 
recognized in the income statement. Where goodwill was previously written 
down for impairment, the write-down is not reversed. At December 31, 2018, 
an impairment test was carried out on the value of goodwill relating to 
the subsidiary ASA UK & Ireland; as a result of this valuation, goodwill was 
written down by 600,000 euros; the management of the English company 
has prepared a recovery plan, then approved by the Board of Directors of 
the parent company, which provides for an improvement in results in future 
financial years, confirmed by the accounting records of the first months of the 
financial year 2020, which resulted in the absence of further write-downs in 
the financial year 2019.

Financial activities

At the time of their initial recognition, financial assets must be classified in 
one of the three categories indicated below based on the following elements:

• the entity's business model for managing financial assets; is

• the characteristics relating to the contractual financial flows of the 
financial asset.

Financial assets are subsequently derecognised from the financial statements 
only if the sale entailed the substantial transfer of all the risks and benefits 
connected to the assets themselves. On the other hand, if a significant 
portion of the risks and benefits relating to the financial assets sold have 
been maintained, these continue to be recorded in the financial statements, 
even if legally the ownership of the assets themselves has been effectively 
transferred.

i) Financial assets valued at amortized cost

This category includes financial assets that meet both of the following conditions:

• the financial asset is held according to a business model whose objective is 
achieved by collecting the cash flows contractually provided (“Hold to Collect” 
business model); 
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• the contractual terms of the financial activity envisage, on certain dates, 
cash flows represented solely by payments of principal and interest on the 
amount of principal to be repaid (the so-called “SPPI test” passed).
Upon initial recognition, these assets are accounted for at fair value, including 
transaction costs or income directly attributable to the instrument. After 
initial recognition, the financial assets in question are valued at amortized 
cost, using the effective interest rate method.
The amortized cost method is not used for assets - valued at historical cost - 
whose short duration suggests the effect of applying the discounting logic to 
be negligible, for those without a defined maturity and for revocable credits.

ii) Financial assets valued at fair value with impact on the overall profitability

This category includes financial assets that meet both of the following conditions:

• the financial asset is held according to a business model whose objective is 
achieved both by collecting the cash flows contractually provided and by selling 
the financial asset (“Hold to Collect and Sell” business model);

• the contractual terms of the financial activity expect, on certain dates, cash 
flows represented solely by payments of principal and interest on the amount of 
capital from return (so-called “SPPI test” passed).

This category includes equity investments, which cannot be qualified as 
controlling, associated or jointly controlled, which are not held for trading, for 
which the option to designate at fair value with impact on overall profitability 
was exercised.

On initial recognition, assets are accounted for at fair value, including transaction 
costs or income directly attributable to the instrument. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, non-controlling, associated and joint control equity interests are 
measured at fair value, and the amounts recognized as a balancing entry 
to shareholders' equity (statement of comprehensive income) must not 
subsequently be transferred to the income statement, even if of assignment. 
The only component referable to the equity securities in question that is 
recorded in the income statement is represented by the related dividends. 
For equity securities included in this category, not listed on an active market, 
the cost criterion is used as an estimate of fair value only on a residual basis 
and limited to a few circumstances, ie when the most recent information for 
assessing fair value is insufficient, or if there is a wide range of possible fair 
value measurements and the cost represents the best estimate of fair value in 
this range of values.
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iii) Financial assets valued at fair value with an impact on the income statement

Are classified in this category Financial assets other than those among “Financial 
assets valued at amortized cost” and among “Financial assets measured at fair 
value with impact on comprehensive income”. This category includes financial 
assets held for trading and derivative contracts that cannot be classified as 
hedges (which are represented as assets if the fair value is positive and as 
liabilities if the fair value is negative). On initial recognition, financial assets 
valued at fair value with an impact on the income statement are recorded at fair 
value, without considering the transaction costs or revenues directly attributable 
to the instrument itself. At the subsequent reference dates they are valued at 
fair value and the valuation effects are recognized in the income statement.

Value reduction of financial assets

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9, the Group applies a simplified 
approach to estimate expected credit losses over the life of the instrument and 
takes into account its historically accrued experience regarding credit losses, 
adjusted on the basis of specific prospective factors of the nature of the Group's 
receivables and the economic context.

In summary, the Group value the expected losses on financial assets to reflect:

• a target amount and weighted according to the probabilities determined 
by evaluating a range of possible results;

• the time value of money;

• reasonable and demonstrable information that is available without excessive 
costs or efforts at the balance sheet date on past events, current conditions and 
forecasts of future economic conditions.

Rights of use

The right of use on the date on which the asset is made available for use, was 
initially valued at cost and derives from the sum of the following components:

• the initial amount of the Lease liability;

• payments due for the leasing made on or before the effective date, net of 
any lease incentives received;
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• the initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;

• the estimate of any costs that the lessee expects to incur for the 
dismantling and removal of the underlying asset and for the restoration of 
the site where it is located or for the restoration of the underlying asset 
under the conditions set out in the terms and conditions established in the 
leasing contract.

Following the initial recognition on the transition date, the right of use was 
reduced for the accumulated depreciation rates, any impairment losses and 
the effects associated with any restatements of the Lease liability.

The amortization rates are constant and follow the duration of the contract, 
taking into account the renewal/term options of which exercise is highly 
probable.

Only if the lease provides for the exercise of a reasonably certain purchase 
option, the right of use is systematically amortized over the useful life of the 
underlying asset.

As regards the financial liabilities deriving from the new standard, please 
refer to the following paragraph “Financial liabilities”.

In addition, the new standard eliminates for the lessee the classification of 
leases as operating or financial, with limited exceptions for the application 
of the accounting treatment (allocation of lease payments to the income 
statement on an accrual basis for leasing meeting the requirements to be 
considered as “short-term” or “low-value”).

Leases with a duration of less than 12 months were also excluded from the 
calculation.

The main contractual types relating to leased assets, linked to specific 
categories of assets that affect most of the Group companies, are mainly the 
following:

• property rental contracts;

• car and vehicle rental agreements.

The ASA Group has applied the new standard from 1 January 2019, the date 
of mandatory effectiveness, using the modified retrospective transition 
method (the so-called “modified retrospective approach”).
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This method consists in accounting for the cumulative effect of the initial 
application of the new standard on the opening initial shareholders' equity, 
without restating the comparative data

Investments in other companies 

Based on the Group accounting policies, investments in companies other than 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, recognized as non-current assets, 
are measured at fair value with the effects recognized in the shareholders' 
equity reserve related to other comprehensive income components; changes 
in the fair value recognized in the shareholders' equity are charged to the 
income statement upon write-down or sale. When investments are not listed 
on a regulated market and the fair value cannot be measured reliably, they are 
measured at cost adjusted for impairment losses; the impairment losses are not 
subject to value restoration. 

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and estimated realizable value 
based on the market conditions. Cost, including accessory charges, is determined 
by using the weighted average method.

Trade receivables, other current and non-current assets

Trade receivables, other receivables, and other current and non-current financial 
assets are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at amortized cost according to the effective 
interest rate method (i.e. the rate that equalises, at the time of initial recording, 
the current value of the expected cash flows and the recorded value), properly 
adjusted to take write-downs into account. Trade receivables and other financial 
assets are classified as current assets, with the exception of those falling due 
more than 12 months after the financial statements date, which are classified as 
non-current assets.

Cash and cash equivalents 

This item includes cash on hand and short-term bank deposits. Elements 
included in cash in hand and at bank are measured at nominal value, which 
corresponds to their fair value.
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Trade payables, other payables and other current and non-current 
financial liabilities

Trade payables, other payables and current and non-current financial 
liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the relevant 
contractual provisions and are measured at fair value, less directly attributable 
transaction costs.

Staff severance provision

The severance indemnity reserve is considered as deferred remuneration 
and its amount depends on the years of service and the salary earned by 
the employee during the service period. Therefore, pursuant to IAS 19, the 
severance indemnity reserve assumes the character of a “Defined benefit 
plan” and the relevant obligation to be recognized in the financial statements 
(Severance indemnity reserve) is measured by actuarial calculations only in 
relation to the Italian companies of the Group. Therefore, changes in actuarial 
gains and losses (“re-measurements”) are accounted for as other components 
of the statement of comprehensive income. The interest payables relating to 
the “time value” component in the actuarial calculations (classified as financial 
charges) are recognized in the income statement.

Starting from 1 January 2007, the Italian law allows employees to choose the 
destination of their accruing severance indemnity (to complementary pension 
funds or to the company). Companies with at least 50 employees are required 
to pay the severance indemnity provision to the “Treasury Fund” managed by 
the social security agency INPS. Therefore, pursuant to IAS 19 the obligation 
to INPS and the contributions to complementary pension funds assumed the 
character of “Defined contribution plans”.

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions for liabilities and charges relate to costs and charges having an 
established nature and the existence of which is certain or probable, for which 
the amount or due date cannot be determined at the reporting date. 

Provisions are recognised when:

• the existence of a current, legal or implied obligation is probable, arising 
from a previous event;

• the discharge of the obligation may likely carry charges;
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• the amount of the obligation may be reliably estimated.

The amount of the provision is representative of the best estimate of the amount 
that the company would reasonably pay to settle the obligation or to transfer it 
to third parties at the end of the reporting period. If the financial effect of time is 
significant and the payment dates of the obligations can be reliably estimated, 
the amount of the allocation is determined by discounting the expected cash 
flows, determined by taking into account the risks associated with the obligation; 
the increase of the provision related to the passing of time is recorded in the 
income statement in the item “Financial income” or “Financial charges”. 

These provisions are updated on a regular basis to reflect changes in estimates 
of costs and redemption timing; estimate changes are allocated to the same 
item of the income statement that had previously included the provisions.

The existence of potential liabilities, represented by:

• possible but not probable obligation, arising from past events, whose 
existence will be confirmed only if one or more uncertain future events that are 
not totally under the Company’s control occur or fail to occur; or 

• current obligations arising from past events, which are unlikely to involve 
future costs or whose amount cannot be reliably estimated;

does not lead to the recognition of liabilities in the financial statements, but shall 
be illustrated in a specific explanatory note.

Taxes

Taxes for the period include current and deferred taxes. Income taxes are 
generally charged to the income statement, unless they are relating to items 
directly recorded under capital and reserves. In this case, income taxes too are 
recognized directly in equity.

Current taxes are those that are expected to be paid on the taxable income in 
the financial year and are calculated in compliance with the tax regulations in 
force in the countries where Gruppo ASA operates.

Deferred taxes are calculated using the so-called liability method on the 
temporary differences between the amount of assets and liabilities of the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding values recognized 
for tax purposes. Deferred taxes are calculated based on the tax rate that is 
expected to be in force upon realization of the asset or settlement of the liability.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized only when it is likely that a taxable income will 
be achieved in future financial years, sufficient to realize any such deferred taxes. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legal right to offset 
current tax balances and when they refer to income taxes levied by the same 
tax authority.

Income taxes relating to previous financial years include expenses and income 
recognized in the financial year for income taxes related to previous financial years.

Recognition of costs and revenues 

Revenues are recognized based on the remuneration that is expected to be 
received for the goods and services provided, based on five steps: 1) identification 
of the contract, defined as an agreement having commercial substance between 
two or more parties capable of generating rights and obligations; 2) identification 
of the individual obligations contained in the contract; 3) determination of the 
transaction price, ie the expected consideration for the transfer of the goods 
and services to the customer; 4) allocation of the transaction price to each 
individual obligation, based on the selling prices of the individual obligation; 
5) recognition of the revenues allocated to the individual obligation when the 
same is settled, ie when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The control of the goods by the customer is normally identified with the 
delivery or shipment of the goods.

Revenues for the provision of services are recognized in the accounting period 
in which the services are rendered, with reference to the completion of the 
service provided and in relation to the total services still to be rendered.

Revenues are recognized at the amount equal to the fair value of the 
consideration received or to be received, net of returns, discounts, reliefs and 
rebates, as well as directly related taxes.

The costs are recorded when they relate to services and goods purchased or 
consumed during the year or by systematic allocation or when their future 
usefulness cannot be identified.

The fees for operating leases are charged to the income statement over the 
duration of the contract.

Financial income and charges are recognized in the income statement during 
the year in which they accrued.
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Dividends

The dividend distribution to the controlling company’s shareholders is 
recognized as a liability in the consolidated financial statements of the period 
in which it is approved by the shareholders’ meeting.
Dividends received from non-consolidated companies are recognized as 
assets in the consolidated financial statements of the period in which they 
were decided by the competent corporate bodies.

2.6 CHANGES OF INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applied from 1 
January 2019

The valuation criteria used for the purpose of preparing the consolidated 
accounting statements for the year 2019 do not differ from those used for 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 
2018, with the exception of the new accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations applicable from the 1st January 2019.

In particular, the application of the new IFRS 16 is noted.
This new standard provided a new definition of lease and introduced 
a criterion based on the control (right of use) of an asset to distinguish 
leasing contracts from contracts for services. The adoption of this standard 
from January 1, 2019 led to the recognition in fixed assets of Rights of use 
whose net book value as of December 31, 2019 is approximately € 3.2 million, 
mainly relating to multi-year lease agreements for the industrial building in 
Chiusanico (IM) and for the rental of the company car fleet.
As off-set, the new standard has led to the recording of financial payables, 
which at the end of the 2019 financial year amounted to approximately 3.6 
million euros.
From an economic point of view, the new accounting standard entailed the 
recognition in 2019 of amortization of rights of use for approximately 0.6 
million euros, financial charges for approximately 0.1 million euros and lower 
lease payments for approximately 0.7 million euros.

The new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applicable 
from 1 January 2019 but which have not had an impact on the Group's equity, 
economic and financial situation are recalled below:

• IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments. This interpretation 
provides indications on how to reflect the uncertainties regarding the tax 
treatment of a given phenomenon in the accounting of income taxes; with 
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reference to this IFRIC it should be noted that the management, having heard 
the opinion of its consultants, believes that there are no uncertainties on the 
treatments adopted for the purposes of income tax such as to require an 
allocation in the financial statements.

• Amendments to IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments. The amendments, 
published in October 2017, relate to the “Prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation” which allow the application of the amortized cost or fair value 
through other comprehensive income (OCI) for financial assets with an early 
repayment option (“negative compensation”).

• Amendments to IAS 28 “Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint 
Ventures”. On 12 October 2017, the IASB issued these amendments to clarify 
the application of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” relating to long-term interests 
in subsidiaries, or joint ventures, for which the equity method is not applied.

• Amendments to IAS 19, “Employee benefits - Plan amendment, curtailment 
or settlement”. This amendment, issued by the IASB on February 7, 2018, 
clarifies how pension expenses are determined when a change in the defined 
benefit plan occurs.

• Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (2015-2017). 
The amendments, published in December 2017, mainly relate to the following 
IFRS: a) IAS 12 “Income Taxes”. The proposed amendments clarify that an 
entity should recognize all tax effects on the distribution of dividends; b) IAS 
23 “Borrowing Costs”: the proposed amendments clarify that, in the event that 
the specific loans required for the purchase and / or construction of an asset 
remain in place even after the asset itself is ready for its use or the sale, these 
loans cease to be considered specific and are therefore included in general 
loans of the entity, for the purpose of determining the capitalization rate of 
the loans; c) AS 28 “Investments in Associates and joint ventures - Long-term 
interests in an associate or joint venture”. The proposed amendments clarify 
that IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, including the impairment requirements, 
also applies to other financial instruments held for a long period issued to an 
associated company or joint venture.

• Amendments to IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments. The amendments, 
published in October 2017, relate to the “Prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation” which allow the application of the amortized cost or fair value 
through other comprehensive income (OCI) for financial assets with an early 
repayment option (“negative compensation”).

• Amendments to IAS 28 “Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint 
Ventures”. On 12 October 2017, the IASB issued these amendments to clarify 
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the application of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” relating to long-term interests 
in subsidiaries, or joint ventures, for which the equity method is not applied.

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations applicable 
subsequently

The principles and interpretations which, at the date of preparation of these 
financial statements, had already been issued but not yet in force are illustrated 
below.

These principles will be applicable from subsequent years and, from an initial 
examination, the Group believes that they will not have a significant impact on 
its consolidated equity, financial and economic situation:

• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8. These amendments, published by the 
IASB on 31 October 2018, provide for a different definition of “material”, 
namely: “Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general 
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, 
which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity”. These 
changes will be applicable for the financial years starting from 1 January 2020 
or later. Early application is permitted.

• Amendments to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, 
published by the IASB on 29 March 2018. The main changes compared to 
the 2010 version concern: i) a new chapter on valuation; ii) better definitions 
and guidance, in particular with reference to the definition of liabilities; iii) 
clarification of important concepts, such as stewardship, prudence and 
uncertainty in valuations. The amendments, where effective updates, will be 
applicable from financial years starting on January 1, 2020 or later.

• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform). These changes focus on the accounting of hedging transactions 
in order to clarify the potential effects deriving from the uncertainty caused 
by the “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform”. In addition, such changes require 
providing additional information to investors regarding hedging relationships 
that are directly affected by such uncertainties. These changes will be 
applicable for the financial years starting from 1 January 2020 or later.

The following are the accounting standards, amendments and interpretations 
published by the IASB but which have not yet completed the related 
endorsement process:

• IFRS 17 - “Insurance Contracts”. This standard, issued on 18 May 2017, 
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establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
representation of insurance contracts included in the standard. The objective of 
IFRS 17 is to ensure that an entity provides relevant information that faithfully 
represents such contracts, in order to represent a basis for the reader of the 
financial statements to assess the effects of such contracts on the financial 
position, economic results and on the entity's cash flows. On June 21, 2018, the 
IASB resolved to issue clarifications regarding IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”, 
to ensure that the interpretation of the standard reflects the decisions made 
by the Board, with particular reference to some points of the contracts subject 
to tariffs variables and aspects related to IFRS 3 “business combination”. The 
provisions of IFRS 17 will be effective starting from financial years starting on 
January 1, 2021 or later.

• Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combination”. These amendments, 
issued by the IASB on 22 October 2018, are aimed at resolving the difficulties 
that arise when an entity determines whether it has acquired a company or 
a group of assets. The amendments are effective for business combinations 
for which the acquisition date is effective or after January 1, 2020. Early 
application is allowed.

• The IASB has published amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” with the 
aim of clarifying how to classify debts and other liabilities among short or 
long term ones. The changes come into effect from January 1, 2022; early 
application is allowed.
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3. ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

As part of preparing consolidated financial statements, Directors are required 
to use accounting principles and methods that, in some circumstances, require 
the use of complex and subjective valuations and estimates based on historical 
experience and assumptions that, in each case, are deemed to be reasonable 
and realistic under the circumstances existing at that time.

The use of these estimates and assumptions has an impact on the amounts 
reported in the financial statements schedules, such as the balance sheet, the 
income statement and the cash flow statement, as well as in additional disclosures. 

The final results for which estimates and assumptions have been made may 
differ from those reported in the consolidated financial statements, due to the 
uncertainty that accompanies the assumptions and the conditions on which 
the estimates are based.
Estimates and assumptions are revised on a regular basis and the impact of 
any resulting change is recognized in the income statement of the period 
when a revision of estimates occurred.

The following are the financial statements items that require the most use of 
subjective judgment by Directors in developing estimates and with respect 
to which a change in the underlying assumptions used could have a material 
impact on the financial statements:

• Non-current assets: the Group periodically revises the carrying amount of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investment in associates and 
other non-current assets, when facts or circumstances call for said revision to 
determine the recoverable amount. The recoverability analysis of the carrying 
amount is generally carried out by using estimates of cash flows expected 
from the use or the sale of the asset and proper discount rates to calculate 
the current value. If the carrying amount of a non-current asset is considered 
impaired, the Group records an impairment loss for the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount from 
use or disposal determined by reference to its most recent business forecasts.

• Deferred tax assets: the Group has deferred tax assets on deductible 
temporary differences and theoretical tax benefits for any tax losses carried 
forward that are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which they may be recovered. The measurement 
of the recoverability of deferred tax assets recognized with reference to both 
tax losses that can be used in subsequent periods and deductible temporary 
differences takes into account the estimate of future taxable income and is 
based on conservative tax planning.



48

• Obsolescence allowances on inventories: based on the management 
estimate of the expected impairment of inventories, determined on the basis 
of past experience. Any anomalous trends of market prices could lead to future 
inventory write-downs.

• Bad debt provision: The recoverability of receivables is measured by 
taking into account the risk of non-payment and ageing. 

• Personnel severance fund and employee benefits: provisions for employee 
benefits and net financial charges are measured with an actuarial method that 
requires the use of estimates and assumptions to determine the obligation 
net value. The actuarial method takes into account financial parameters such 
as the discount rate and rates of salary increase, as well as the probability 
of occurrence of potential future events through the use of demographic 
parameters, such as rates related to mortality, resignation or retirement of 
employees. 

• Contingent liabilities: the Group records a liability in case of ongoing 
legal disputes and litigations when it deems it probable that an outflow of 
resources will occur and the amount of the deriving losses can be estimated 
reasonably. If the financial outlay becomes possible, but it is not possible yet to 
determine the amount, said fact is reported in the explanatory notes. Disputes 
may relate to complex legal and tax proceedings, with a different degree of 
uncertainty. For this reason, the value of provisions may vary following the 
future development of the proceedings. The Group monitors the status of 
ongoing proceedings and consults legal advisors to better foresee probable 
liabilities.

• Amortization and depreciation: changes in the economic conditions of 
markets, technology and the competitive scenario may significantly influence 
the useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and lead 
to a difference in the amortization and depreciation timing, with a consequent 
impact on the relevant costs.

• Income taxes: they are determined in each country in which the Group 
operates based on prudent interpretations of tax laws in force.

4. MAIN CUSTOMERS 

in compliance with the provisions of IFRS 8, paragraph 34, it is hereby specified 
that in the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 only one customer, 
ie the main Swiss customer of ASA Switzerland AG, generated Group revenues 
higher than 10% of the total consolidated revenues.
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5. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The item “Property, plant and equipment” amounted to Euro 65,178 thousand 
as at 31 December 2019 (Euro 59,097 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table shows the breakdown and changes in the item 
Property, plant and equipment for the financial years ended 31 December 
2019 and 2018:

(€ thousand)
Land Buildings and

third-party 
assets 

improvements

Plant and 
equipment

Industrial and 
commercial 
equipment

Other 
assets

Payments on 
account and 

assets in course 
of construction

Total

 Net values as at 31 December 2018 9,688 31,250 12,652 445 294 2,645 56,974

 Historical cost as at 1 January 2018 9,688 40,178 53,018 4,863 3,176 2,645 113,568

 Investments - 136 2,024 180 67 3,779 6,186

 Divestments - - (375) (10) (20) (27) (432)

 Other changes / reclassifications - 291 650 9 4 (713) 241

 Conversion effect - (11) (30) - - - (41)

 Historical cost as at 31 December 2018 9,688 40,594 55,287 5,042 3,227 5,684 119,522

 Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 2018 - 8,928 40,366 4,418 2,882 - 56,594

 Depreciation - 845 2,786 228 99 - 3,958

 Divestments - - (280) (25) (20) - (325)

 Other changes / reclassifications - 125 79 6 5 - 215

 Conversion effect - (2) (15) - - - (17)

 Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2018 - 9,896 42,936 4,627 2,966 - 60,425

 Net values as at 31 December 2018 9,688 30,698 12,351 415 261 5,684 59,097

 Historical cost as at 1 January 2019 9,688 40,594 55,287 5,042 3,227 5,684 119,522

 Investments - 437 1,934 117 244 8,653 11,385

 Divestments - - (473) - - (871) (1,344)

 Other changes / reclassifications - - - - - - -

 Conversion effect - 58 211    269

 Historical cost as at 31 December 2019 9,688 41,089 56,959 5,159 3,471 13,466 129,832

 Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 2019 - 9,896 42,936 4,627 2,966 - 60,425

 Depreciation - 873 2,826 203 87 - 3,989

 Divestments - - (415) - - - (415)

 Other changes / reclassifications - - 4 - - - 4

 Conversion effect - 7 106   - 113

 Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2019 - 10,776 45,457 4,830 3,053 - 64,116

 Net values as at 31 December 2019 9,688 30,315 11,502 329 418 13,466 65,718
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The category “buildings and third-party assets improvements” as at 31 
December 2019 mainly include real property used for production activities 
and installations on property owned by the Group. 

Said real estate property is located in Falciano (Republic of San Marino), where 
ASA San Marino SpA carries out its industrial activities; in Italy in Rovato (BS), 
Chignolo Po (PV) and Conversano (BA), where ASA Italia Srl carries out part 
of its activities, and in Imperia (IM), where is a land to be used for building; 
In Switzerland at Ermatingen, in the canton of Thurgau and in the United 
Kingdom in Liverpool, where the foreign subsidiaries ASA Switzerland and 
ASA U.K. & Ireland carry out their production activities .

The real estate in Rovato and Conversano and the land for building in Chiusanico 
(IM) are owned by ASA Servizi Srl, while the real estate in Chignolo PO (PV) is 
owned by ASA Italia Srl.

The category “plant and equipment” mainly includes assembly facilities 
for metal packaging, machinery for the manufacture of bottoms and tops 
(presses), machinery for cutting sheets in clamps (shears), machinery for 
lithographic printing and for cutting coils in sheets.

The increases in the year mainly refer to Fixed assets in progress, and relate 
to the costs incurred in 2019 for the investments, started in 2018, made by the 
Parent Company ASA San Marino SpA for the installation of the new Metalstar 
3 printing machine and for the preparation of the related industrial warehouse.
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5.2 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The item “Intangible assets” amounted to Euro 2,708 thousand as at 31 
December 2019 (Euro 2,658 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table shows the breakdown and changes in the item for the 
financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

The item “Goodwill” is almost exclusively related to the difference between 
the price paid in November 2015 to the former shareholders of the English 
subsidiary and the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired.

Based on the results of the impairment test carried out by management at 31 
December 2018, the value of goodwill was written down by 600,000 euros, 
while the impairment test carried out by management at 31 December 2019 did 
not highlight the need for further write-downs, on the based on the positive 
prospects for recovery of profitability of ASA UK & Ireland Ltd starting from 
the 2020 financial year.

The item “Other intangible fixed assets” includes multiannual costs as well as 
capitalized costs related to software licences.

(€ thousand)
Goodwill Patents & 

copyrights
Concessions, 

licences, 
trademarks and 

similar rights

Other intangible 
fixed assets

Total

 Net values as at 1 January 2018 2,633 1 112 474 3,220

 Investments - - 94 96 190

 Devaluations (600) - - - (600)

 Amortization - - (77) (75) (152)

 Net values as at 31 December 2018 2,033 1 129 495 2,658

 Investments - 11 122 75 208

 Devaluations - - - - -

 Amortization - (1) (82) (75) (158)

 Net values as at 31 December 2019 2,033 11 169 495 2,708
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5.3 RIGHTS OF USE

The item “Rights of use” amounted to Euro 3.232 thousand as at 31 December 
2019 (Euro 0 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table shows the breakdown and changes in the item for the 
financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

This item represents the discounted value of future lease payments relating 
to operating leasing contracts with a multi-year duration as of 31.12.2019, as 
required by the new IFRS 16, applied from 1 January 2019.

5.4 DEFERRED TAXES

The item “Deferred tax assets” amounted to Euro 970 thousand as at 31 
December 2019 (Euro 956 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table shows the breakdown and changes in the item for the 
financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

(€ thousand)
Right of use
on leases of

industrial buildings

Rights of use
on equipment

leases

Rights of use 
on car leases 

Other Rights
of use

Total

 Net values as at 1 January 2019 0 0 0 0 0

 Admission variation as of January 1, 2019 2,126 732 538 475 3,871

 Increases - - - - -

 Decrease - - - - -

 Amortization (327) (103) (163) (46) (639)

 Net values as at 31 December 2019 1,799 629 375 429 3,232

(€ thousand)
Severance 
indemnity 

reserve

Intercompany 
capital gains

Bad debt 
provision

Inventory 
write-down 

provision

Profit in 
intercompany 

stocks

Others Total 
deferred

tax assets

 Values as at 1 January 2018 3 343 0 0 434 78 858

 Allocation - 23 36 36 89 395 579

 Use (3) (3) - - (26) (449) (481)

 Values as at 31 December 2018 0 363 36 36 497 24 956

 Allocation - 6 - - 6 22 34

 Use - - (13) - - (7) (20)

 Values as at 31 December 2019 0 369 23 36 503 39 970
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The item “Deferred tax assets” shows a slight increase at 31 December 2019 
compared to the previous year (Euro 14 thousand). Among other changes, it 
should be noted the decrease of Euro 13 thousand made by ASA Italia on the 
use of previous provisions for bad debts.

5.5 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

The item “Investment in associates” amounted to Euro 28 thousand as at 31 
December 2019 (Euro 31 thousand as at 31.12.2018) and relates to the valuation 
by the equity method of the 49% shareholding in the associate company 
Marsilio Srl. 

5.6 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

The item “Other non-current assets” amounted to Euro 246 thousand as at 31 
December 2019 (Euro 233 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table displays the breakdown of other non-current assets as at 
31 December 2019 and 2018:

Receivables from other companies consist of receivables from the subsidiary 
Marsilio Srl.

Guarantee deposits were paid to third parties for rented real estate, utilities 
and import practices.

Equity investment in other companies refers to minority shareholdings in 
some consortia connected with the activity carried out by the Group (CONAI, 
Consorzio Acciai ecc.). 

As at 31 December

2019 2018

 Other non-current assets

 Receivables from other companies 96 96

 Guarantee deposits 137 124

 Investment in other companies 13 13

 Total other non-current assets 246 233

(€ thousand)
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5.7 INVENTORIES

The item “Inventories” amounted to Euro 22,727 thousand as at 31 December 
2019 (Euro 26,840 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table displays the breakdown of inventories as at 31 December 
2019 and 2018:

 

The significant reduction in the balance of inventories as at 31 December 2019 
compared to 31 December 2018 is mainly due to the policies launched by 
the Group aimed at introducing a more efficient management of warehouse 
stocks.

The value of inventories is shown net of a provision for the devaluation of 
inventories, which did not undergo any changes in the year 2019, as shown 
below:

 As at 31 December

 As at 31 December

2019 2018

2019 2018

 Inventories

 Raw materials 5,766 7,316

 Semi-finished goods 12,974 15,254

 Finished products 3,987 4,270

 Total inventories 22,727 26,840

 Inventories  

 Raw materials, semi-finished and finished goods 23,072 27,185

 Inventory write-down provision (345) (345)

 Total inventories 22,727 26,840

(€ thousand)

(€ thousand)
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5.8 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The item “Trade receivables” amounted to Euro 22,412 thousand as at 31 
December 2019 (Euro 22,859 thousand as at 31 December 2018), net of the 
relevant bad debt provision.

The following table displays the breakdown of trade receivables as at 31 
December 2019 and 2018 :

Trade receivables as at 31.12.2019 are substantially unchanged compared 
to 31.12.2018. Also at the end of this year, ASA Italia Srl made transfers 
without recourse in favor of the same three factoring companies to which 
the company periodically transfers credits during the year.

The latter are indicated under the item “Trade receivables transferred to 
factoring companies” and as at 31.12.2019 they were equal to Euro 2,827 
thousand; they are kept recorded in the balance sheet as all the conditions 
required for their derecognition from the assets have not been met.

The financial liabilities include the amounts received from the factoring 
companies as advances against the aforementioned sales. It should be 
noted that the Group has been using commercial credit insurance policies 
since 2014, and this activity is constantly increasing towards customers with 
significant volumes of turnover, and in addition, from March 2020, insurance 
was taken out for receivables from foreign customers of ASA Italia.

As for uncertain receivables, for which legal procedures have been 
initiated for collection, and for certain trade receivables with a potential 
lower degree of enforceability specific bad debt provisions have been 
allocated up to the supposed realizable value, analytically determined for 
each credit position.

The table below shows the changes in the bad debt provision in the 

 As at 31 December 

2019 2018

 Trade receivables

 Trade receivables (nominal value) 19,985 20,418

 Bad debt provision (400) (435)

 Transferred trade receivables 2,827 2,876

 Total trade receivables 22,412 22,859

(€ thousand)
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financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

The use of the bad debt provision in 2019 and 2018 refers to trade receivables 
for which the Group ascertained the existence of requirements for write-off. 

5.9 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

The item “Other current assets” amounted to Euro 2,554 thousand as at 31 
December 2019 (Euro 2,284 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table displays the breakdown of other current assets as at 31 
December 2019 and 2018:

Tax assets mainly consist of VAT and single-phase tax receivables for the 
parent company and advances paid, based on the tax regulations in force in 

Bad debt provision

 Values as at 1 January 2018 563

 Allocation 165

 Use (99)

 Releases (194)

 Values as at 31 December 2018 435

 Allocation 46

 Use (81)

 Releases -

 Values as at 31 December 2019 400

(€ thousand)

As at 31 December

2019 2018

 Other current assets  

 Tax assets 1,717 1,840

 Advances to suppliers 253 567

 Goods to be received 85 19

 Prepaid expenses 129 306

 Other receivables  370 152

 Total other current assets 2,554 2,884

(€ thousand)



57

the countries where the Group companies operate, in the form of corporate 
income taxes.

5.10 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

The item “Cash and cash equivalents” amounted to Euro 3,666 thousand as 
at 31 December 2019 (Euro 832 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table displays the breakdown of cash and cash equivalents as 
at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Bank deposits usually constitute, in treasury management, temporary excess 
liquidity in current accounts at the end of the year. The variations in their 
consistency are due to normal operations. The 2019 balance, however, is 
affected by a double credit, of Euro 2,565 thousand, erroneously made to an 
ASA Italia current account at the end of 2019 by a factoring company which 
was paid back in the first days of the 2020 financial year.

The following table displays the breakdown by currency of the item cash and 
cash equivalents as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, there were no constraints to the use of the 
Group cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December

As at 31 December

2019 2018

2019 2018

 Cash and cash equivalents   

 Bank accounts 3,648 817

 Cash in hand 18 15

 Total cash and cash equivalents  3,666 832

 EUR 3,588 682

 CHF - 5

 GBP 78 145

 Total 3,666 832

(€ thousand)

(€ thousand)
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5.11 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The item “Equity and Liabilities” amounted to Euro 32,610 thousand as at 31 
December 2018 (Euro 32,895 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table displays the breakdown of the item “Equity and Liabilities” 
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

As at 31 December

2019 2018

 Equity and Liabilities  

 Issued capital 1,600 1,600

 Other reserves 13,639 14,390

 Translation reserve (539) (507)

 Reserve for first adoption of IAS/IFRS accounting standards 19,367 19,367

 IAS 19 reserve (91) (69)

 Others (5,098) (4,401)

 Retained earnings 16,905 13,971

 Profit for the period attributable to the Group 466 2,934

 Total equity 32,610 32,895

(€ thousand)
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The following table shows the breakdown and changes in the item for the 
financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

The issued capital of the parent company ASA San Marino SpA, fully subscribed 
and paid-in, amounts to Euro 1,599,600 and consists of 1,599,600 ordinary 
shares with a nominal value of Euro 1.00 each.

The “translation reserve” derives from the translation of the financial 
statements of subsidiary foreign companies in Switzerland and the United 
Kingdom whose functional currency is not Euro. 

The item “Other reserves” mainly records the effects deriving from the first 
adoption of the IFRSs with reference to 1 January 2014 as well as the negative 
reserve accrued by the business combination under common control following 
the consolidation of the Co.pro.met “sub-group”in 2014. 

Issued 
capital

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Reserve for first 
adoption of IAS/
IFRS accounting 
standards

Profit (loss) 
for the period 
attributable
to the Group

IAS 19 
reserve

Equity 
attributable 
to the 
Group

Others

Other reserves

(€ thousand)

 Values as at 1 January 2018 1,600 (512) 19,367 (93) (3,624) 10,054 3,917 30,709

 Profit for the
 previous year      3,917 (3,917) -

 Dividends     (780)   (780)

 Total profit for the period       2,934 2,934

 Translation reserve  5      5

 Changes in the
 IAS 19 reserve    24    24

 Other changes     3   3

 Values as at 31 December 2018 1,600 (507) 19,367 (69) (4,401) 13,971 2,934 32,895

 Profit for the
 previous year      2,934 (2,934) -

 Dividends     (700)   (700)

 Total profit for the period       466 466
 
 Translation reserve   (32)      (32)

 Changes in the
 IAS 19 reserve    (22)    (22)

 Other changes     3   3
 
 Values as at 31 December 2019 1,600 (539) 19,367 (91) (5,098) 16,905 466 32,610
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The following table shows the reconciliation of the shareholders' equity 
and the profit for the year of the parent company with the corresponding 
consolidated values as at 31 December 2019:

As at 31 December 2019

 ASA San Marino 18,567 1,218

 Shareholder’s equity and profit of subsidiaries 20,945 490

 Total aggregated shareholders’ equity and result 39,512 1,708

 Write-off of investments (17,465) 12

 Evaluation of investments in associates 21 (2)

 IAS 17 – Leasing 2,970 (120)

 FTA capital gains 16,865 -

 Write-off of infra-group profits (9,286) 367

 Write-off of infra-group dividends - (1,500)

 Other consolidation entries (15) -

 Total consolidation entries (6,910) (1,243)

 Total consolidated financial statements 32,602 465

(€ thousand)
Equity and liabilities Profit for the year
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5.12 FINANCIAL PAYABLES

The items “Non-current financial payables” and “Current financial payables” 
as at 31 December 2018 amounted to Euro 19,475 thousand and Euro 35,896 
thousand, respectively (Euro 17,640 thousand and Euro 31,633 thousand, 
respectively, as at 31 December 2018).

The following table displays the breakdown of current and non-current 
financial payables as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

As at 31 December

2019 2018

 Non-current financial payables    

 Long-term portion of loans falling due after more than one year 14,285 14,827

 Financial payables for leases 5,190 2,804

 Other non-current financial payables - 9

 Total non-current financial payables 19,475 17,640

 Current financial payables  

 Short-term portion of loans falling due after more than one year 5,401 2,510

 Other short-term loans 22,153 23,962

 Financial payables for leases 957 347

 Other current financial payables 7,385 4,814

 Total current financial payables 35,896 31,633

(€ thousand)
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Medium-long term loans

The table below shows the changes in loans in the financial years ended 31 
December 2019 and 2018:

Long-term portion 
of loans falling
due after more 
than one year

Short-term portion 
of loans falling
due after more 
than one year

Total loans

 Values as at 1 January 2018 15,513 3,106 18,619

 New loans 2,285 115 2,400

 Repayments (458) (3,220) (3,678)

 Reclassifications from long-term to short-term (2,509) 2,509 -

 Conversion effect (4) - (4)

 Values as at 31 December 2018 14,827 2,510 17,337

 New loans 1,634 4,539 6,173

 Repayments (199) (3,650) (3,849)

 Reclassifications from long-term to short-term (2,002) 2,002 -

 Conversion effect 25 - 25

 Values as at 31 December 2018 14,285 5,401 19,686

(€ thousand)
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The following table shows the breakdown of medium-long term loans as at 
31 December 2019 and 2018:

All the medium-long term loans are in Euro, with the exception of that 
granted by Thurgauer Kantonal Bank expressed in Swiss franchs and that 
with Barclays, expressed in pounds sterling.

 Loans

 Thurgauer Kantonal Bank. Ind.te Variable 4,661 - 4,686 -

 Banca Agricola Commerciale 2019 Variable - - 563 563

 Banca Sammarinese Investimenti 2022 Variable 734 306 1,027 294

 Banco BPM nr. 03556288 2027 Variable 1,837 242 2,075 238

 Barclays Bank  2029 Fixed 516 48 535 44

 Banca Intesa 2027 Fixed 1,584 191 1,771 187

 Cassa di Risparmio di San Marino nr. 5100315 2024 Variable 3,676 741 4,395 718

 UniCredit Banca nr. 10340855 2023 Variable 1,819 474 2,285 466

 Banca Agricola Commerciale nr. 5100565 2020 Variable 1,234 1,234 - -

 B.N.L. 2020 Variable 1,000 1,000 - -

 Banca Malatestiana 2020 Variable 1,000 - - -

 Banco BPM nr. 04333351 2020 Variable 250 250 - -

 Banca Intesa 2020 Variable 417 417 - -

 Banca Intesa 2021 Variable 958 498 - -

 Total loans     19,686 5,401 17,337 2,510

(€ thousand)
Expiry 2019 2018of which, 

current 
portion

of which, 
current 
portion

Rate 
applied

As at 31 December



64

Other short-term loans

The following table shows the breakdown of other short-term loans as at 31 
December 2019 and 2018:

Other short-term loans mainly refer to self-liquidating credit lines aimed at 
discounting invoices and MOs and, to a lesser extent, to the use of “import 
funding” lines aimed at the payment of suppliers of raw materials. 

As at 31 December 

2019 2018

 Other short-term loans   

 Unicredit S.p.A. EUR 4,337 4,104

 Intesa S.Paolo  EUR 1,800 4,686

 B.co BPM  EUR 3,454 2,788

 B.ca Agr. Comm.le Rep. S. Marino EUR 9,153 7,464

 Cassa di Risparmio Rep. S. Marino EUR 1,935 2,089

 B.ca Samm.se d’Investimenti EUR - 1,000

 Barclays Bank GBP 721 629

 Banca Nazionale del Lavoro EUR 749 1,200

 Banca Malatestiana EUR 4 -

 Total other short-term loans  22,153 23,962

(€ thousand)
Currency
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Financial payables for leases

Current and non-current financial liabilities for leasing contracts refer to:

a) for Euro 2,874 thousand (Euro 346 thousand of the current portion and 
Euro 2,528 thousand of the non-current portion) for payables to leasing 
companies for two contracts signed by the Parent Company for the lease of 
a property located in Falciano (RSM), where it is the coils cutting center has 
been set up, and two functional cutting lines;

b) for Euro 3,619 thousand (Euro 611 thousand of the current portion and 
Euro 2,662 thousand of the non-current portion) for payables for long-
term rental contracts for which the Group has acquired the right to use the 
leased assets against future rental fees already contractually established. 
The aforementioned payables were recognized for the first time in 2019 due 
to the new IFRS 16 accounting standard.

Other financial payables

Other current financial payables, equal to Euro 7,385 thousand, are made up 
as follows:

a) a loan (disbursed in CHF) for an equivalent value of Euro 2,226 thousand 
granted to the company ASA Switzerland AG by the previous majority 
shareholder of the company Blechverpackungen Louis Sauter AG, now 
belonging to the Group;

b) a loan (disbursed in GBP) for an equivalent value of Euro 9 thousand 
granted to the English subsidiary by Aldermore Asset Finance;

c) a double payment of Euro 2,565 thousand erroneously made by a factoring 
company at the end of 2019, which was paid back in the first days of 2020;

d) payables to factoring companies BPER Factor (Euro 1,511 thousand), UBI 
Factor (Euro 689 thousand) and Ifitalia (Euro 395 thousand) due to the sale 
of receivables relating to the sale of goods; these receivables, although they 
have been sold, are kept recorded in the balance sheet, as all the conditions 
required for their derecognition from the assets have not been met. See also 
the previous Note 5.8 - “Trade Receivables”.
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5.13 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The item “Deferred tax liabilities” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to Euro 
4,277 thousand (Euro 4,247 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table shows the breakdown and changes in the item for the 
financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Liabilities for deferred taxes relating to buildings are mainly related to 
revaluations at fair value, not recognized for tax purposes, adopted on the 
transition, on January 1, 2014, of the consolidated financial statements of 
the ASA Group to international accounting standards and for the purposes 
of subsequent acquisitions of properties, as part of company acquisitions, 
subject to revaluations at fair value.

Intangible
assets

Property, plant 
and equipment

Others Deferred
tax liabilities

 Values as at 1 January 2018 3,328 22 849 4,199

 Allocation 80 - 103 183

 Use (92) - (42) (134)

 Conversion effect - - (1) (1)

 Values as at 31 December 2018 3,316 22 909 4,247

 Allocation 60 - 103 163

 Use (63) - (78) (141)

 Conversion effect - - 8 8

 Values as at 31 December 2019 3,313 22 942 4,277

(€ thousand)
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5.14 STAFF SEVERANCE PROVISION 

The item “Staff severance provision” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 
Euro 1,426 thousand (Euro 1,488 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table shows the changes in the item in the financial years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

The use of the funds relates to outgoing personnel, under the Italian operating 
company of the Group.

The severance indemnity set aside by ASA San Marino SpA is classified 
under “Payables to Employees” in the short term, as according to San 
Marino legislation it must be paid in the year following that of the provision. 
Consequently, in the 2018 financial year the provision allocated as at 31.12.2017 
(for Euro 475 thousand) and disbursed in 2018 was classified as a reduction 
of the provision under the item “use”.

The discounting of the benefits required by IAS 19R was carried out only on 
the provision of the company ASA Italia S.r.l., since, as indicated above, the 
provision of ASA San Marino S.p.A. it is paid in the year following that of accrual.

The Swiss and English regulations do not provide for this benefit, which is 
therefore absent in the accounting data of the Swiss and English subsidiaries.

Staff severance provision

 Values as at 1 January 2018 2,099

 Allocation 26

 Use (604)

 Discounting benefits (33)

 Values as at 31 December 2018 1,488

 Allocation 20

 Use (113)

 Discounting benefits 31

 Values as at 31 December 2019 1,426

(€ thousand)
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5.15 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

The item “Other non-current liabilities” amounts to Euro 1,950 thousand at 
31 December 2019 (Euro 0 thousand at 31 December 2018).

It relates to the deferred payment of the installments, subsequent to 
31.12.2020, for the purchase, made in this year, of the Metalstar 3 printing 
machine, which has already been disclosed in the previous paragraph 5.1 
“Property, plant and machinery”.

5.16 TRADE PAYABLES

The item “Trade payables” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to Euro 21,818 
thousand (Euro 20,786 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

Trade receivables mainly refer to transactions for the purchase of raw 
materials, components and services for transport, processing and technical 
assistance. 

5.17 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

The item “Other current liabilities” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 
Euro 6,540 thousand (Euro 7,592 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The following table displays the breakdown of other current liabilities as at 
31 December 2019 and 2018:

As at 31 December 

2019 2018

 Other current liabilities  

 Deferred income and accruals 164 156

 Payables to shareholders 276 103

 Payables to employees 2,769 3,084

 Payables to tax authorities 2,026 2,547

 Social security 639 608

 Payments received from customers on account 368 717

 Other payables 298 377

 Total other current liabilities 6,540 7,592

(€ thousand)
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Payables to employees refer to the salaries of the month of December 2019 
paid in January 2020, the estimate of holidays due but not taken and the 
bonuses to staff for their performance in the closing financial year, as well as 
the severance indemnity due to the employees of ASA San Marino SpA which, 
being certain both in the amount and in the payment date, was classified at 
December 31, 2018 as a debt and not as a fund.

Payables to tax authorities relate to current taxes and withholding taxes made 
as a substitute tax, of companies falling within the scope of consolidation.

Social security payables mainly refer to social security costs of different 
nature to be paid during the following financial year with reference to the 
salaries of December, the year-end bonus and holiday due but not taken. 

Payments received on account from customers refer to finished products 
in the course of production as at 31 December and to be delivered in the 
following financial year.

Other payables as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 mainly refer to voluntary 
contributions withheld from employees, contributions to CONAI (Consorzio 
Nazionale Imballaggi) and contributions to trade unions to be paid in the 
following financial year.

Accrued expenses mainly include accruals for additional monthly payments 
for employees of the Chiusanico plant of ASA Italia and accruals for various 
utilities.

Payables to shareholders at 31 December 2019, for Euro 276 thousand, relate 
to dividends approved by the Parent Company in 2019, but not yet paid at 
the end of the year.

5.18 PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

The item “Provisions for current risks and charges” amounts to Euro 170 
thousand at 31 December 2019 (Euro 108 thousand at 31 December 2018) 
and refers for Euro 30 thousand to the estimate of probable liability deriving 
from a dispute with an employee, for Euro 81 thousand to the supplementary 
indemnity fund for agents and for Euro 59 thousand to a provision for 
potential change in revenues for goods already paid in advance by the 
customer, subject to revision of the final prices for changes in the cost of the 
raw materials used.
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6. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 

For further information on the Group's financial position and performance, 
please refer to the Directors’ Annual report.

Further details on the main items of the consolidated income statement are 
provided below.

6.1 SALES

The item “Sales” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to Euro 101,523 thousand 
(Euro 104,257 thousand as at 31 December 2018). The revenues of the Group 
companies arise from the sale of finished products, components and semi-
finished goods.

6.2 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

The item “Other operating income” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 
Euro 1,094 thousand (Euro 3,639 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The 2019 balance mainly refers to contributions from customers for the 
creation or modification of lithographic art works, recovery of sundry costs, 
repayments received from insurance companies and capital gains on the 
sale of assets.
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6.3 COST OF GOODS SOLD AND MATERIALS CONSUMED

The item “Cost of goods sold and materials consumed” as at 31 December 
2019 amounted to Euro 53,834 thousand (Euro 53,339 thousand as at 31 
December 2018).

The following table shows the breakdown of cost of goods sold and materials 
consumed as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

With regard to the purchases of tinplate and components, as a consequence of 
the persistence of an upward trend in the purchase prices of raw materials on 
the international markets, it was not possible to fully pass on these increased 
purchase costs to the Group's customers, with a consequent reduction of the 
first industrial margin.

Financial year ended 31 December

2019 2018

 Cost of goods sold and materials consumed  

 Tinplate, components, semi-finished goods and finished products 46,422 45,322

 Inks, varnishes and other lithographic materials 3,289 3,510

 Packing, duties and customs expenses 3,123 3,288

 Consumables and sundry materials 990 1,037

 Other materials 10 182

 Total cost of goods sold and materials consumed 53,834 53,339

(€ thousand)
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6.4 EXTERNAL SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

The item “External supplies and services” as at 31 December 2019 amounted 
to Euro 21,726 thousand (Euro 23,301 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The table below shows the breakdown of the item in the financial years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

The significant reduction in 2019, compared to 2018, of the costs for the use 
of third party assets is motivated by the application, starting from 1 January 
2019, of the new accounting standard IFRS 16 - “Leases”, with consequent 
classification among amortization and financial charges of costs for multi-year 
rentals and of non-intangible amount.

Among the costs for other services, the main items relate to insurance 
premiums, cleaning and waste disposal, remunerations to directors, banking 
services and expenses for advertising and product promotion.

 External supplies and services  

 Transport for sales and purchases 7,433 7,492

 Maintenance  2,958 2,914

 Consultancy, agents’ commissions and other professional services 873 996

 Utilities  3,083 3,182

 Third-party processing 1,046 1,610

 Temporary labour expenses 2,571 2,589

 Enjoyment of third-party assets 261 926

 Other external supplies and services 3,501 3,592

 Total external supplies and services 21,726 23,301

Financial year ended 31 December

2019 2018
(€ thousand)
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6.5 PERSONNEL COSTS

The item “Personnel costs” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to Euro 18,817 
thousand (Euro 19,473 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The table below shows the breakdown of the item in the financial years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

The reduction highlighted in personnel costs is mainly attributable, in addition 
to a reduction in the average number of employees, to the Group's policy, 
adopted starting from 2019, aimed at making its employees use the remaining 
holidays as much as possible.

The table below displays the average and precise number of employees by 
category at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Financial year ended 31 December

2019 2018
Average AverageYear-end Year-end

 Personnel costs  

 Wages and salaries 14,382 14,985

 Social security costs 3,507 3,604

 Provisions relating to employees 928 884

 Total personnel costs 18,817 19,473

 Number of employees    

 Executives 5 4 6 6

 Clerks 97 97 98 96

 Workers  329 317 339 342

 Total number of employees 430 418 443 444

(€ thousand)

Financial year ended 31 December

2019 2018
(€ thousand)
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6.6 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The item “Other operating expenses” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to 
Euro 1,136 thousand (Euro 2,070 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The table below shows the breakdown of the item in the financial years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

“Sundry charges” mainly refer to membership fees, to expenses for stationery 
and office consumables and small office equipment.

The most significant decrease in the item “Other operating costs” is that 
found, compared to the previous year, for “Taxes and indirect taxes” and is 
due, almost exclusively, to a reduction in the single-phase tax, for ASA San 
Marino SpA, due to a significant decrease in inventories at year end.

 Other operating expenses  

 Direct taxes 111 520

 Losses on receivables - 182

 Personnel costs 333 392

 Sundry charges 697 976

 Total other operating expenses 1,141 2,070

Financial year ended 31 December

2019 2018
(€ thousand)
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6.7 AMORTIZATION AND DEPRECIATION

The item “Amortization and depreciation” as at 31 December 2019 amounted 
to Euro 4,831 thousand (Euro 4,875 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The table below shows the breakdown of the item in the financial years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

6.8 PROVISIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

The item “Provisions and impairment losses” as at 31 December 2019 
amounted to Euro 59 thousand (Euro 62 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

6.9 FINANCIAL INCOME

The item “Financial income” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to Euro 377 
thousand (Euro 46 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

It is mainly made up of realized and valuation gains on exchange rates (for 
Euro 354 thousand) and, to a secondary extent, of commissions for financial 
services.

 Amortization and depreciation  

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,989 3,958

 Amortization of intangible assets 158 152

 Amortization rights of use 639 -

 Write-offs of current receivables 45 165

 Partial write-down of goodwill relating to the UK subsidiary - 600

 Total amortization and depreciation 4,831 4,875

Financial year ended 31 December

2019 2018
(€ thousand)
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6.10 FINANCIAL EXPENSES

The item “Financial expenses” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to Euro 
1,769 thousand (Euro 1,251 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The table below shows the breakdown of the item in the financial years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

The increase in the item “financial charges” in 2019, equal to Euro 518 
thousand, is mainly due to the increase in foreign exchange losses (for Euro 
401 thousand) and interest from leasing payables (for Euro 77 thousand 
EUR).

 Financial expenses

 Interest expenses on loans 469 462

 Bank interest expenses 427 395

 Bank commissions and expenses 92 76

 Interest expenses from lease payables 181 104

 Factoring interest expenses 105 120

 Exchange losses 495 94

 Total financial expenses 1,769 1,251

Financial year ended 31 December

2019 2018
(€ thousand)



77

6.11 INCOME TAXES

The item “Income taxes” as at 31 December 2019 amounted to Euro 347 
thousand (Euro 630 thousand as at 31 December 2018).

The table below shows the breakdown of the item in the financial years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Current taxes were calculated based on tax rates (net of any tax incentives 
or reductions) in force in the countries where the Group companies are 
domiciled for tax purposes and taking into account any tax losses, as shown 
below with reference to 2019:

• ASA San Marino SpA: tax amounting to Euro 0 thousand, rate 3.4% 
(ordinary rate 17%, net of incentives for new investments and recruitments);

• ASA Italia Srl: taxes amounting to Euro 197 thousand, rate 27.9%;

• ASA Servizi Srl: taxes amounting to Euro 26 thousand, rate 27.9%;

• ASA Switzerland AG: taxes of Euro 107 thousand, tax rate of 15,44% (the 
company has cut down part of the taxable profit of the year through the use 
of tax losses carried forward, that prudentially have not been, in previous 
years, valued as prepaid taxes in the consolidated financial statements).

• Blechverpackungen Louis Sauter AG: taxes amounting to Euro 2 
thousand, tax rate 15.44% (the company closed the year with a tax loss).

• ASA U.K. & Ireland Ltd.: tax amount 0 thousand, rate 19% (the company 
closed the year with a tax loss).

 Income taxes  

 Current 320 681

 Deferred 22 39

 Prepaid 5 (90)

 Total income taxes 347 630

Financial year ended 31 December

2019 2018
(€ thousand)
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Deferred taxes mainly refer to the removal of intercompany transactions 
for the sale of tangible assets, financial leases and revaluations of property 
owned by the Group at the date of transition to the IFRS accounting standards 
and within the recording of the aforementioned business combination under 
common control.

Prepaid taxes were mainly recognized against the cancellation of gains 
arising within the Group and adjustments carried out on the value of stock 
to take into account the “profit in stock” embedded in them.

Prudently, as in previous years, in the year 2019 no deferred tax assets were 
recorded on the tax losses suffered in 2019 and in some previous years by 
the English subsidiary.

7. FINANCIAL DEBT

The following table shows the breakdown of the Group's net financial debt 
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

 Net financial debt  

 A. Cash 18 15

 B. Cash equivalents 3,648 817

 C. Securities held for trading - -

 D. Cash and cash equivalents (A) + (B) + (C) 3,666 832

 E. Current financial receivables - -

 F. Current bank payables (22,153) (23,962)

 G. Current portion of non-current debt (5,401) (2,510)

 H. Current debts from IFRS 16 application (611) -

 I. Other current financial payables (7,731) (5,161)

 J. Current financial debt (F) + (G) + (H) (35,896) (31,633)

 K. Net current financial debt (I) + (E) + (D) (32,230) (30,801)

 L. Non-current bank payables (14,285) (14,827)

 M. Non-current debts from IFRS 16 application (2,662) -

 N. Other non-current financial payables (2,528) (2,813)

 O. Non-current financial debt (K) + (L) + (M) (19,475) (17,640)

 P. Net financial debt (J) + (N) (51,705) (48,441)

As at 31 December

2019 2018
(€ thousand)
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8. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS

The Group is exposed to financial risks related to its business, in particular:

• Credit risk, arising from commercial transactions or financing;

• Liquidity risk, related to the availability of financial resources and access 
to the credit market;

• Market risk, more specifically:

a) Foreign exchange risk, related to operations in other currency areas;

b) Price risk, due to changes in commodity prices.

Credit risk

The credit risk operational management is the responsibility of the credit 
management function, which operates based on a credit policy that regulates: 
(i) assessment of customers’ credit standing to manage credit limits and any 
request for suitable bank or insurance guarantees to support the granting of 
deferred payments; (ii) adoption of credit insurance policies; (iii) monitoring 
the balance of receivables and the relevant seniority so that the amount of 
pending receivables is not significant; (iv) monitoring the expected collection 
flows; (v) suitable reminders; (vi) any recovery measures.

Write-downs of receivables are carried out on percentages of the past due, 
based on insolvency historical series, except for any write-downs on specific 
receivables under dispute. The Group’s maximum theoretical exposure to 
credit risk at year-end is mainly represented by the carrying amount of trade 
receivables.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s liquidity risk is carefully monitored by the parent company 
with a specific control activity. In particular, polices and processes have 
been implemented to optimize the management of financial resources and 
reduce liquidity risk: (i) maintaining an adequate level of available liquidity; 
(ii) negotiation of adequate credit lines; (iii) monitoring prospective 
liquidity conditions in relation to the business planning process. Within 
this typology of risk, in the composition of net financial debt the Group 
tends to finance current investments and liabilities, with both operating 
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cash flow and short-term credit lines. 

The following table displays the amount of credit lines used and available 
as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Cash
credit lines

Bank lines Self-liquidating 
credit lines

Financial 
lines 

Total

 As at 31 December 2018    

 Credit lines 1,067 19,700 10,900 31,367

 Utilizations (23) (9,009) (10,736) (19,768)

 Availability as at 31 December 2018 1,044 10,691 164 11,599

 As at 31 December 2019    

 Credit lines 1,017 17,020 11,450 29,487

 Utilizations (76) (8,001) (9,443) (17,520)

 Availability as at 31 December 2019 941 9,019 2,007 11,967
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The following table displays the breakdown and maturity of debt items as at 
31 December 2019 and 2018:

Market risk

Exchange rate risk

The Group operates internationally and, therefore, is exposed to exchange 
rate risk, especially for commercial and financial transactions in CHF and 
GBP. Exchange rate fluctuations from invoicing to payment are managed 
separately, without hedge accounting, by balancing them with analogous 
debt flows. The Group’s investments in foreign subsidiaries are not hedged, 
since foreign currency positions are considered long-term positions.

Within 1 year From 1 to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 

 Values as at 31 December 2018    

 Non-current financial payables - 9,085 8,555 17,640

 Other non-current liabilities - - - -

 Trade payables 20,786 - - 20,786

 Liabilities for income taxes - - 4,247 4,247

 Current financial payables 31,633 - - 31,633

 Liabilities for financial derivative instruments - - - -

 Other current liabilities 7,700 - - 7,700

 Commitments - - 1,488 1,488

 Total 60,119 9,085 14,290 83,494

 Values as at 31 December 2019    

 Non-current financial payables - 8,382 8,430 16,812

 Other non-current liabilities - - - -

 Trade payables 23,868 - - 23,868

 Liabilities for income taxes - - 4,278 4,278

 Current financial payables 35,285 - - 35,285

 Liabilities for financial derivative instrumentsi - - - -

 Other current liabilities 6,606 - - 6,606

 Commitments - - 1,426 1,426

 Total 65,759 8,382 14,134 88,275
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The following table displays trade receivables and payables, cash and 
cash equivalents and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 
by currency:

Interest rate risk

Risks related to changes in interest rates refer to the use of credit lines for 
short-term and medium/long-term loans. Variable rate loans expose the Group 
to the risk of changes in cash flows due to interests. No derivative hedging 
instruments are used for interest rate risks.

Price risk

The Group makes purchases internationally and, therefore, is exposed to a 
normal risk of commodity price fluctuation, though to a limited extent.

9. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The relationships of the Groups with related parties, identified based on 
criteria defined by IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, are based on normal 
market conditions.

(€ thousand) EUR CHF GBP USD Total

 Trade receivables         

 As at 31 December 2019 20,754 - 1,599 59 22,412

 As at 31 December 2018 21,409 178 1,254 18 22,859

 Cash and cash equivalents      

 As at 31 December 2019 3,601 - 65 - 3,666

 As at 31 December 2018 682 5 145 - 832

 Current financial payables     

 As at 31 December 2019 32,987 2,226 683 - 35,896

 As at 31 December 2018 29,020 2,562 50 - 31,286

 Trade payables     

 As at 31 December 2019 20,781 743 394 - 21,918

 As at 31 December 2018 19,402 758 616 10 20,786
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The following table displays the asset and economic balances relating to the 
Group’s relationships with related parties in the financial years ended 31 December 
2019 and 2018, including their incidence on the relevant financial statements item:

The relationships between the Group and related parties in the financial years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are mainly of financial nature and relating to 
the loan granted to the company ASA Switzerland AG by the previous majority 
shareholder of Blechverpackungen Louis Sauter AG, currently the minority 
shareholder of the two Swiss companies of the Group.

Shareholders

Shareholders

Total

Total

 Trade receivables

 As at 31 December 2019 - -

 As at 31 December 2018 - -

 Non-current financial receivables

 As at 31 December 2019 - -

 As at 31 December 2018 - -

 Trade payables

 As at 31 December 2019 - -

 As at 31 December 2018 - -

 Current financial payables

 As at 31 December 2019 2,226 2,226

 As at 31 December 2018 2,258 2,258

 Other current liabilities

 As at 31 December 2019 276 276

 As at 31 December 2018 103 103

 Revenues

 Financial year ended 31 December 2019 - -

 Financial year ended 31 December 2018 - -

 External supplies and services

 Financial year ended 31 December 2019 - -

 Financial year ended 31 December 2018 - -

 Financial income

 Financial year ended 31 December 2019 - -

 Financial year ended 31 December 2018 - -

 Financial expenses

 Financial year ended 31 December 2019 33 33

 Financial year ended 31 December 2018 33 33

(€ thousand)

(€ thousand)
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Remuneration of Directors

The total remuneration of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors in 2019 
amounted to Euro 270 thousand (Euro 275 thousand in 2018).

10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At December 31, 2019, no significant legal or tax proceedings were pending 
against any company in the Group, for which no specific provisions for risks 
and charges have been accounted.

11. COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

At December 31, 2019 the Group granted mortgage guarantees in favor of 
credit institutions, for loans granted, for Euro 19,000 thousand (Euro 19,000 
thousand at December 31, 2018).

12. SIGNIFICANT NON-RECURRING EVENTS AND TRANSACTIONS

During the 2019 financial year, there were no significant or non-recurring 
events that significantly impacted the income statement.

13. OUTSTANDING FACTS AFTER THE CLOSING OF THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR 2019

In March 2020, following the “CoViD-19” health emergency, the production 
activity, although never having undergone a total closure, saw a reduction 
in volumes in all the Group's plants; as a result of the aforementioned 
reductions in activity, the negative effects were transimetted in particular 
in ASA Italy for the domestic market and to a slightly lesser extent for 
exports, while for ASA Switzerland and ASA U.K. & Ireland the effects 
were less significant. The parent company ASA San Marino, which 
produces almost exclusively for its subsidiaries, consequently highlighted 
reductions in production volumes.

As a result of the aforementioned reduction in production, starting from 
March 2020, the Group has taken actions aimed at containing costs and 
improving production efficiency. In particular, with regard to personnel 
costs, it was deemed necessary for employees to use the holidays 
accrued and not taken until 31/12/2019 and also those pertaining to 2020. 
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In addition, to minimize health risks, teleworking and minimization of 
displacements for travel and business trips were used as far as possible.

Based on the current scenario and prospects, despite the decline in 
sales recorded mainly in the months of April and May 2020, in which the 
reduction in sales was on average 28%, while in the first half of 2020 it 
was 16.3%, a partial recovery in the second half of 2020 can be considered 
plausible, aimed at limiting the unfavorable economic effects, a recovery 
already manifested in the first data for July 2020.

While not underestimating the possible negative impact that the 
continuation of this solution could have on the operating and economic 
results, the Group's equity and financial solidity and the available bank 
credit lines allow for the exclusion, at present, of elements capable to 
determining uncertainty on the Group's business continuity.

Falciano (Republic of San Marino), 24 July 2020

Consolidated financial statements approved by
the Board of Directors of ASA San Marino SpA.
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